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SCOPE OF THE ANNUAL REPORT

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (“SACREIL” or the “Company”) 

is pleased to present its third Annual Report. While this report is addressed primarily 

to the providers of financial capital to the Company, it includes relevant information for

our other stakeholders, and is aimed at providing stakeholders with an understanding 

of the Company’s strategic objectives, performance, risks and governance.  

The information included in this report has been provided in accordance with the Code 

of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (“the Code”), International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), the Mauritian Companies Act, 2001, the Mauritian Securities Act, 

2005, and the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) Listing Rules.

The annual report contains, amongst other things, information extracted from the 

documents that govern the Company, including the Company’s Constitution and 

Investment Charter. Extracts, by their nature, contain summarised information 

and therefore the documents themselves should be studied to have a full appreciation 

of their content. While every effort has been made to ensure consistency between 

the annual report and the documents governing the Company, in the event of any 

inconsistency the documents governing the Company shall prevail.

HIGHLIGHTS

GROSS ASSET VALUE 

USD152m
AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

GEARING AT 
31 DECEMBER 2015 

33%
SCOPE TO INCREASE

DIVIDEND GROWTH 
PER SHARE

6%

TOTAL 2015 DIVIDEND

24.37 
US CENTS PER SHARE

DIVIDEND YIELD

4%
TARGET ACHIEVED

1
1

2

2
2

1

1

1
2

1

1

MOZAMBIQUE

MAURITIUS

TANZANIA

GHANA

NIGERIA

ANGOLA

BOTSWANA

ZAMBIA
MALAWI

ZIMBABWE

UGANDA
KENYA

APPROVED COUNTRIES:
Angola, Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, Malawi, Mauritius, 

Mozambique, Nigeria, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia 

and Zimbabwe.

INVESTED COUNTRIES:
Ghana, Nigeria and Tanzania

1  PRIMARY FOCUS COUNTRIES

2  SECONDARY FOCUS COUNTRIES

1
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While SACREIL was incorporated 

in Mauritius in April 2012, its first 

capital contribution of substance 

was received on the Commencement 

Date, 2 May 2013, when Sanlam 

Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary 

Limited (“SAREA” or the “Advisor”) 

subscribed for USD10 million of the 

Class B Shares of the Company. 

The first capital contributions were 

received from the initial Class A 

Shareholders in the middle of May 

2013 and the Class A Shares of the 

Company were listed on the Stock 

Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) on 

16 May 2013.

SACREIL is a long-term investor in 

commercial real estate in selected 

countries in sub-Saharan Africa 

(“SSA”) and was established at a time 

when the real estate sector across 

most parts of the African continent 

was beginning to show strong signs 

of development. The sector in most 

countries had been constrained for 

many years due to a lack of both 

equity capital and debt funding.

Although access to equity 

capital and debt funding remains 

challenging, the access has 

improved over the last number of 

years as new participants have 

entered the market. SACREIL has 

positioned itself to take advantage 

of the growth opportunities in SSA 

within a framework outlined in its 

Constitution and Investment Charter.

SACREIL provides a platform for 

sophisticated investors to access its 

chosen investment universe. These 

investors understand the complexities 

and risks inherent in the business of 

SACREIL, where investments span 

multiple countries with differing legal, 

tax and regulatory environments that 

have to be considered – in addition 

to the asset specific commercial 

considerations. The Company has 

no limit on the size to which it may 

grow, the number of shareholders 

it may have and its term, apart 

from the condition related to the 

minimum Gross Asset Value (“GAV”) 

of USD750 million by 31 December 

2020. While the Company aims to 

increase its GAV to a level that will 

promote the liquidity of its Class A 

Shares in terms of its Constitution, 

if at 31 December 2020 the GAV of 

the Company is less than USD750 

million, Class A Shareholders can 

elect to request the sale of their 

shareholding in the Company. 

Should a shareholder or shareholders 

elect this option the Company will 

have 24 months to attempt to effect 

the liquidation of the shareholding 

through a replacement of investor or 

through a disposal of the underlying 

assets.

SACREIL HAS POSITIONED 

ITSELF TO TAKE ADVANTAGE 

OF THE GROWTH 

OPPORTUNITIES IN 

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA WITHIN 

A FRAMEWORK OUTLINED 

IN ITS CONSTITUTION AND 

INVESTMENT CHARTER

COMPANY BACKGROUND

COMPANY 
PROFILE
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STRATEGY

SACREIL targets the acquisition of 

completed commercial property 

assets with sustainable and growing 

income streams, and assumes limited 

development risk. Political, economic 

and social risks are evaluated and 

responded to appropriately during 

the investment lifecycle. SACREIL 

aims to provide an attractive USD 

return to its investors, including the 

declaration of semi-annual dividends. 

Projected capital growth for investors 

is driven by net income growth and 

possible yield contraction, while the 

NAV of the Company has the physical 

underpin of the investment properties 

themselves. Market conditions, 

including changes in sovereign 

borrowing rates and market rental 

levels, will have an impact on asset 

values.

SACREIL’s investment strategy and 
approach is set out in its Investment 
Charter, which contains the 
guiding criteria for the selection of 
investments. SACREIL’s objective is to 
maximise its total return, in a manner 
that is consistent with a diversified, 
risk-managed real estate portfolio of 
investments. The total return includes 
both income distributions and capital 
appreciation.

In terms of SACREIL’s Constitution, 
distributions are set at a minimum 
of 90% of Available Cash, which 
is defined as the profits earned by 
SACREIL less the profits resulting 
from the revaluation of investment 
properties (adjusted for any deferred 
tax implications of those revaluations). 

In order to optimise returns, 
SACREIL makes use of gearing. 
The Investment Charter sets out a 
targeted level of gearing of between 
40% and 45% of GAV, with an 
absolute gearing level limit of 50% 
(which may be exceeded for a limited 
period not exceeding 12 months). 
The gearing level is computed by 
dividing SACREIL’s effective share 
of third-party loans (ie excluding 
shareholder loans), within SACREIL’s 
corporate structure, by the GAV 
(which is SACREIL’s aggregate 
effective share of the value of the 
investment properties).

In order to mitigate concentration 
risk, diversification is imposed in 
the Investment Charter as follows:

• SACREIL’s effective share in any 
single investment property may not 
exceed 35% of the total GAV.

• No more than 45% of the total GAV 
may be invested in a single country.

• Sectoral targets are set as a 
percentage of GAV as follows:

 – Retail – 55% to 65%.

 – Office – 25% to 35%.

 – Industrial – 5% to 15%.

It should be noted that the 

diversification requirements 

listed above are only effective 

once SACREIL reaches a GAV 

of USD500 million.

The current countries in which real 

estate investments may be made are: 

Angola, Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, 

Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, 

Nigeria, Tanzania, Uganda, Zambia 

and Zimbabwe.

INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2015, SACREIL 

had interests in Accra Mall and land 

adjacent to Accra Mall, in Accra, 

Ghana, Capital Properties , in Dar es 

Salaam, Tanzania and Atlantic House, 

in Lagos, Nigeria.

COMPANY STRATEGY AND 
OPERATING MODEL

OPERATING MODEL

SACREIL does not have any 

employees and its affairs are 

conducted by its Board of Directors 

(“Board”). As the Company invests, 

holds and disposes of real estate 

investments in selected countries 

in SSA, decisions in this regard 

are made by the Board following 

consideration by the Investment 

Committee. Given this construct, 

SACREIL has appointed third-party 

service providers to assist it.

The Company has appointed 

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor 

as its Advisor in terms of an Advisory 

Agreement whereby SAREA 

provides Advisory Services to the 

Company. The Advisory Services 

include, inter alia, the identification 

and recommendation (following 

appropriate due diligence) of 

investments to the Company for 

its consideration, advice on the 

Company's capital structure and 

providing governance oversight, 

monitoring and reporting on the 

management of the Company's 

investments. 

To align the Advisor with SACREIL’s 

goals of growing its GAV and 

delivering attractive returns to 

investors, the following arrangements 

govern the advisory relationship:

• SAREA is paid an Advisory fee 

which is a set percentage of 

SACREIL’s average GAV.

• To align SAREA with the investors 

in the Class A Shares of SACREIL, 

SAREA was required to invest in 

and retain the Class B Shares of 

SACREIL.

 – The Class B Shares have the 

same risk/return profile as the 

Class A Share in terms of value 

and distributions.

To further cement the alignment with 

Class A Shareholders, the Class B 

shareholder qualifies for an Additional 

Dividend if certain return hurdles 

are met. This Additional Dividend is 

subject to forfeiture if required returns 

are not sustained.

SACREIL has appointed 

Intercontinental Trust Limited (“ITL”) 

to provide Administration Services 

in terms of an Administration 

Agreement. ITL earns agreed upon 

fees for providing the Administration 

Services.

SACREIL’S 

OBJECTIVE IS 

TO MAXIMISE 

ITS TOTAL 

RETURN, IN A 

MANNER THAT 

IS CONSISTENT 

WITH A 

DIVERSIFIED, 

RISK-MANAGED 

REAL ESTATE 

PORTFOLIO OF 

INVESTMENTS

SECTORAL DIVERSIFICATION

GEOGRAPHICAL DIVERSIFICATION

Percentage of GAV

Percentage of GAV

35%
Retail

65%
Office

29%
Nigeria

36%
Tanzania

35%
Ghana

SACREIL

50% 100% 100% 100%

Petrostar Limited

100%

Accra Mall Limited Lousol Properties Limited 
Capital Properties 

Limited 

Accra Mall (Mauritius)

Limited

Lousol Properties 

Mauritius 
SACREIL Oddlot 

Holdings Limited 

Amani Place

Properties Limited

94% 1% 99%100%
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ACCRA MALL, 

GHANA

Accra Mall is currently the second 

largest shopping centre in Accra, 

Ghana measuring 21,381m². The 

centre is located at a key main road 

intersection in, arguably, the most 

affluent part of the city. The centre is 

predominantly a single level structure 

– with an upper level housing the 

cinema complex and a small area for 

other retail as well as a basement area 

housing management offices and 

parking. The centre is anchored by 

major retailers, Shoprite and Game.

FINANCIAL DETAIL

The summarised financial information 

relating to Accra Mall is as follows:

• Accra Mall is owned by Accra 

Mall Limited (“AML”), a company 

domiciled in Ghana. AML is 93.94% 

held by Accra Mall (Mauritius) 

Limited (“AMML”), a company 

domiciled in Mauritius, which is 

50% held by SACREIL.

• AML also owns a vacant piece of 

land adjacent to Accra Mall and 

100% of Petrostar Limited which, in 

turn, owns another vacant piece of 

land adjacent to the Mall.

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

A
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• Accra Mall was independently 

valued at USD101.4 million as at 

31 December 2015, which value 

includes the amount invested in 

the initial minor expansion and the 

refurbishment of the food court, 

referred to below.

• Third-party debt in respect of the 

asset consists of a third-party loan 

to AML of USD4.8 million and a 

third party loan of USD14.2 million 

to AMML. SACREIL’s effective 

share of the third-party debt 

amounts to USD9.4 million.

• Accra Mall's trading conditions have 

remained largely resilient, with only 

a marginal impact on operations 

from the economic downturn being 

experienced in Ghana.

TENANCY OVERVIEW

The tenancy history has been stable 

over the past financial year, with 

limited changes.  The expansion of 

the mall has allowed new blue-chip 

tenants to get space in the Mall and 

several new brands have opened 

up. At 31 December 2015, the mall 

was fully occupied with no vacancies 

and negligible concessions on rental 

levels, despite the local economic 

ACCRA MALL'S 

TRADING 

CONDITIONS 

HAVE REMAINED 

LARGELY 

RESILIENT, WITH 

ONLY A MARGINAL 

IMPACT ON 

OPERATIONS 

FROM THE 

ECONOMIC 

DOWNTURN BEING 

EXPERIENCED 

IN GHANA

climate which included an inflation 

rate of around 17% and a weakening 

currency.

ASSET OPTIMISATION 

Optimising the asset is primarily 
achieved through ensuring that the 
centre remains in high demand for the 
local consumer, as well as retailers. 
This involves a strategy to provide a 
tenant mix and shopping experience 
in line with what appeals to the local 
shopper. 

Any significant expansion of the Mall will 
happen on the two parcels of adjacent 
land which was acquired in 2014.

During 2015 the food court was 
refurbished and an additional entrance 
was added to the Mall through the new 
food court area.  Further development, 
included the replacement of the 

Sewerage Treatment Plant (“STP”) with 
a larger plant and this construction 
permitted additional lettable area being 
added to the Mall.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The property management function 
is performed by Broll Ghana. 
Key responsibilities include 
day-to-day property management, 
tenancy management and 
financial accounting.

Olympio Agbodza, Accra Mall Centre Manager

RETAIL

MAJOR TENANTS INCLUDE: 
SHOPRITE, GAME, MR PRICE

EFFECTIVE SHAREHOLDING:

47%

INDEPENDENT VALUATION: 

USD101.4m

GROSS LETTABLE AREA

21,381m2
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL PROPERTIES, 

TANZANIA 

Through Capital Properties Limited 

(“CPL”), a company domiciled in 

Tanzania, SACREIL owns three office 

towers, and an associated car park, 

located in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. 

The total GLA of the three towers 

amounts to approximately 20,962m² 

and is multi-tenanted.

FINANCIAL DETAIL 

The summarised financial information 

relating to CPL is as follows:

• SACREIL effectively owns 100% of 

Capital Properties Limited through 

a wholly-owned subsidiary, Amani 

Place Properties Limited ("APPL"), 

a company domiciled in Mauritius.

• The properties owned by CPL 

were independently valued 

at USD54.95 million as at 

31 December 2015.

• The third-party debt in respect of 

the asset consists of a loan to CPL 

of USD17.5 million.

TENANCY OVERVIEW

The tenancy history of the property 

has been very stable, with few 

changes to the rent roll over a 

number of years. The largest tenant is 

Barclays Bank, which has a 10-year 

lease until 2022.

ASSET OPTIMISATION

The three towers referred to above, 

are known as Amani Place, FNB 

House and Barclays House with 

Amani Place being the largest tower 

with a lettable area of 11,726m2. 

Amani Place is the newest building 

in the portfolio having been built 

approximately five years ago, and as 

a result, still has a specification which 

is up to date. 

Barclays House is a comparatively 

older building but underwent a 

significant renovation in 2007 and its 

specification remains acceptable at 

this stage.
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OFFICES

MAJOR TENANTS INCLUDE: 
BARCLAYS BANK, COMMERCIAL BANK OF 
AFRICA, FIRST NATIONAL BANK

EFFECTIVE SHAREHOLDING:

100%

INDEPENDENT VALUATION: 

USD54.95m

GROSS LETTABLE AREA

20,962m2
THE TENANCY 

HISTORY OF 

THE PROPERTY 

HAS BEEN VERY 

STABLE, WITH 

FEW CHANGES TO 

THE RENT ROLL 

OVER A NUMBER 

OF YEARS

Meja Elisha and Crey Kulumula, Capital Properties Property Managers

FNB House is the oldest asset in 

the portfolio. Significant planning 

of a refurbishment of this building 

took place in 2015, with the 

project set to commence in 2016.  

The refurbishment is intended to 

maintain the value of the asset and 

to enhance the tenant experience. 

The refurbishment will be funded 

from CPL's internal resources. 

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The property management function 

is performed by Knight Frank 

Tanzania. Key responsibilities include 

day-to-day property management, 

tenancy management and financial 

accounting.
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)

ATLANTIC HOUSE, 

NIGERIA

Through Lousol Properties Limited 

(“LPL”), a company domiciled in 

Nigeria, SACREIL owns an office 

tower in Lagos, Nigeria. Atlantic 

House was constructed 15 years 

ago as a four-storey office building. 

An additional two floors were added 

in 2005. The building offers A grade 

accommodation. The total GLA of 

the office block is 4,271m² and is 

multi-tenanted.

FINANCIAL DETAIL 

The summarised financial information 

relating to LPL is as follows:

• SACREIL effectively owns 100% of 

Lousol Properties Limited through 

wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely 

Lousol Properties Mauritius ("LPM") 

and SACREIL Oddlot Holdings 

Limited ("SOHL"), companies 

domiciled in Mauritius.

• The property owned by LPL 

was independently valued at 

USD44 million as at 31 December 

2015.

• The third-party debt in respect 

of the asset consists of a loan 

to LPL of USD22.9 million as at 

31 December 2015.

TENANCY OVERVIEW

As this is a relatively small building, 

the number of tenants is small.  

Most of the tenants have been 

in occupation for several years 

and include large multinational 

organisations.  The International 

Finance Corporation is the largest 

tenant, occupying 1,037m2 over 

two floors.

ASSET OPTIMISATION

In 2015, the Lagos property market 

came under significant pressure, 

with a rapid decrease in rental rates 

and an increasing amount of vacant 

space, particularly due to new 

developments becoming available. 

Further, primarily due to economic 

concerns, few tenants were looking 

to move, upgrade or increase 

their occupied space, resulting 

in shallow new tenant pool.  As a 

result, the vacancies in the building 

have remained stubbornly high at 

27% (1,180m2), of which 722m2 has 

remained vacant since acquisition.

The marketing of the vacant space 

has been reviewed and the tenant 

occupation experience has been 

improved. Post year-end, the 

common areas of the building have 

undergone a refurbishment in order 

to improve the occupier experience.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The property management function 

is performed by Broll Nigeria. 

Key responsibilities include day-

to-day property management, 

tenancy management and financial 

accounting.
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OFFICES

MAJOR TENANTS INCLUDE: 
TRANSOCEAN, INTERNATIONAL FINANCE 
CORPORATION, CISCO

EFFECTIVE SHAREHOLDING:

100%

INDEPENDENT VALUATION: 

USD44m

GROSS LETTABLE AREA

4,271m2
MOST OF THE 

TENANTS 

HAVE BEEN IN 

OCCUPATION 

FOR SEVERAL 

YEARS AND 

INCLUDE LARGE 

MULTINATIONAL 

ORGANISATIONS

Andy Uche Ogwu, Atlantic House Building Manager
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REVIEW 
OF 2015

FORTUNATELY, THE 
COMPANY IS SHELTERED, 
TO SOME DEGREE, 
FROM CURRENCY 
FLUCTUATIONS. THE 
OPERATIONS OF THE 
COMPANY ARE EXPOSED 
TO THE PERFORMANCE 
OF THE LOCAL 
ECONOMIES

OVERVIEW

SACREIL continues to mature and we are pleased to 

present this, our third, annual report since the Company 

was listed in May 2013. The number of assets in the 

portfolio remained stable in 2015, with no acquisitions or 

disposals. Currently, the portfolio consists of three office 

towers in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania, an office tower in 

Lagos, Nigeria, and an effective 47% stake in a retail mall 

in Accra, Ghana. In 2015, there was a minor renovation 

and expansion of the mall in Accra, which resulted in a 

modern food court, an additional entrance to the mall as 

well as an additional 1 067m2 (additional 5%) being added 

to the GLA.

Falling commodity prices and a strong dollar meant that 

trading conditions on the continent were challenging 

over the period. More specifically, the countries in which 

SACREIL is invested experienced economic difficulties in 

2015. Tanzania and Ghana were affected by a weakening 

currency and high inflation, and Nigeria was impacted 

by the significant fall in the oil price. Fortunately, national 

elections in Nigeria and Tanzania proceeded relatively 

smoothly, with new presidents being democratically 

elected in both countries. Government productivity 

is unfortunately often hampered in an election year, 

exacerbating the economic slowdown.

The currencies of the countries in which the Company has 

assets came under pressure during 2015 with significant 

devaluations of those currencies being experienced, 

particularly in Ghana and Tanzania. The unofficial 

currency market in Nigeria was trading significantly 

higher than the government pegged rate. Fortunately, 

the Company is sheltered, to some degree, from 

these currency fluctuations as the rentals are typically 

quoted and indexed to US dollars. The operations of 

the Company are, however, indirectly exposed to the 

performance of the local economies through the impact 

on its tenants’ trading conditions.

Despite this background of economic stress, the 

Company achieved satisfactory financial results for 

the year ended 31 December 2015. This enabled 

the Company to declare a total dividend per share for 

the year which was 6% higher than the dividend declared 

per share for the 2014 financial year, and achieved the 

Company’s targeted 4% dividend yield on the opening 

NAV for the year.

ECONOMIC CLIMATE AND OUTLOOK

Whilst the outlook for SACREIL is positive, the landscape 

in which the Company operates has inherent risks which 

need to be considered and managed. The existence 

of economic cycles is well documented and the global 

and regional economic slowdown which is currently 

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Anil Currimjee

Chairman of  the Board
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being experienced, together the 

various reasons therefore, have been 

analysed at length in various forums. 

SACREIL has been affected by this 

economic slowdown, particularly 

when considering the impact of the 

market rentals on its asset values.

Despite these cyclical factors, the 

longer term, secular African growth 

trends remain intact. Economic 

growth in sub-Saharan Africa has 

exceeded global growth by about 

2% per year since 2000. According 

to the United Nations, a combination 

of demographic growth and 

urbanisation could quadruple the 

number of urban Africans between 

2000 and 2040. Together with the 

emergence and expansion of a 

middle class population, who will 

drive urbanisation, these factors are 

anticipated to result in rising demand 

for quality real estate assets.

Therefore we believe that the 

business case for SACREIL remains 

attractive and we continue to 

investigate opportunities both in the 

countries in which the Company 

currently operates, as well as those 

where we have a strong knowledge 

of the local operating environment.

PROSPECTS

There is no doubt that the continent’s 

macroeconomic environment will 

continue to impact SACREIL’s 

operating environment in the coming 

year. Should the strong dollar and 

weak commodity cycle persist, 

trading conditions will remain 

challenging.

Nevertheless, this set of results 

for 2015 demonstrates that a well-

managed, diversified portfolio of 

quality African real estate assets 

can be relatively resilient and 

continue to deliver income, even in 

difficult trading conditions.

The portfolio is currently underweight 

in retail assets in favour of office 

assets, as they offer better returns, 

in the near-term. We expect this 

underweight allocation to retail assets 

to correct in the medium term, as 

more potential investments, which 

are currently in the development 

phase, are completed. In most 

African countries, retail development 

is starting from a very low base, 

although there are an increasing 

number of retail malls being 

developed across the region. Given 

the favourable projected consumer 

demographics of sub-Saharan Africa, 

it is expected that, over time, the 

portfolio may be dominated by retail 

assets.

Furthermore, the Company remains 

interested in diversifying the portfolio 

beyond office and retail assets, 

into light industrial and distribution 

centres. These opportunities remain 

scarce in the countries in which 

the Company operates, although 

indications from developers across 

the continent are that this sector 

is receiving greater attention as 

opportunities become available.

Given current economic conditions, 

the Company will likely remain 

conservatively leveraged over the 

medium term. Its current gearing 

level is 33% of gross asset value, 

against a long-term targeted 

gearing level of between 40 and 

45%. As opportunities are identified 

and confidence increases, this will 

provide the Company with  scope 

to explore suitably higher levels of 

gearing as well as to fund future 

acquisitions from its own internal 

cash reserves, and by raising 

additional capital in the market.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

AND RISK MANAGEMENT

SACREIL continues to ensure its 

compliance with the Mauritian Code 

of Corporate Governance (the 

“Code”) as required by the Stock 

Exchange of Mauritius. The Audit and 

Risk Management Committee has 

played a significant role in SACREIL’s 

compliance with the Code thus far. 

The Committee has also continued 

to play a pivotal role in monitoring 

risks and ensuring that the Company 

meets its objectives.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the Advisor, the 

Administrator, the Board, the Audit 

and Risk Management Committee 

and the Investment Committee 

members for their dedication, hard 

work and continued support for the 

Company over the past year.

Anil Currimjee

Chairman of the Board

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

SACREIL HAS 

DELIVERED, AND 

CONTINUES TO DELIVER, 

ON ITS MANDATE TO 

PROVIDE INVESTORS 

WITH AN ATTRACTIVE 

US DOLLAR-BASED 

INCOME YIELD

OVERVIEW

As an early entrant in the African Property sector, Sanlam 

Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (“SACREIL”) 

has entrenched itself in a competitive position with 

a quality real estate portfolio spanning sub-Saharan 

Africa. SACREIL’s vision is to be the preferred vehicle for 

investors wishing to take advantage of the rising demand 

for quality retail and office space in rapidly growing 

African cities. As SACREIL's Advisor, Sanlam Africa Real 

Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited (“SAREA”) is proud 

that since its listing on the Mauritian Stock Exchange 

three years ago, SACREIL has delivered, and continues 

to deliver, on its mandate to provide investors with both 

an attractive US dollar-based income yield and longer 

term capital appreciation. This has been achieved 

notwithstanding short-term issues with certain assets, 

through exposure to core real estate assets in select 

sub- Saharan African countries.

When looking at the financial results for 2015, it is clear 

that there have been two distinct narratives:

• 2015 was undeniably a difficult year for the region, with 

challenging local economic environments, high levels of 

country debt, falling commodity prices, devaluing local 

currencies and increased levels of local interest rates 

all taking their toll on many of the economies. Countries 

with a high dependence on a single commodity, such 

as oil or copper, were hardest hit. This caused some 

investors to question the clichéd “African Growth Story” 

and question whether this growth story was premature 

or based on nothing more than transient good fortune 

and a commodities super-cycle.

• Despite these shorter term cyclical headwinds, the 

region’s growth prospects remain compelling when 

compared to the marginal levels of growth currently 

being experienced in the developed world. SAREA 

does not believe that these cyclical headwinds 

have altered the longer term trend of real economic 

growth on the continent. Changing demographics, an 

emerging middle class and the pace of urbanisation all 

provide the drivers for increasing demand for goods, 

services and lettable area. These factors will ultimately 

translate into long-term economic upswing for the 

region.

Against this backdrop, SAREA is extremely pleased with 

the portfolio’s overall performance, in particular the 6% 

increase in the aggregate dividend per share over the 

previous financial year. We are even more excited to be 

associated with the platform that has been created on 

which to build a sizeable African real estate player over 

the medium term.

In order to do this, SAREA will continue to be of service to 

SACREIL as it continues to pursue its strategy of growing 

its portfolio of assets. The Advisor has identified a quality 

pipeline of prospective assets. 

ADVISOR’S REPORT

Gregory Chalmers

Chief  Executive Offi cer of  the Advisor
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SACREIL is targeting a portfolio 

with gross asset value of USD750 

million over the next five years, in line 

with its commitment in its founding 

documents.

SACREIL has drawn all of its initial 

committed capital. The current 

conservative levels of gearing will 

allow some space to fund future 

acquisitions but, given the size and 

quality of the pipeline, it is anticipated 

that the Company will need to come 

to market to raise additional capital 

in the foreseeable future.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY

SACREIL’s overarching investment 

strategy is to source, assess, acquire 

and manage quality real estate assets 

across sectors, geographies and 

countries within sub-Saharan Africa. 

The aim is to create the premier 

portfolio of quality commercial retail 

and office real estate assets, on the 

African continent, delivering investors 

attractive US dollar-based income 

yield and longer term capital growth.

More specifically, and looking ahead 

to 2016, in order to achieve these 

aims, the Advisor will focus its advice 

to SACREIL on:

• optimising the Company’s capital 

structure. SACREIL currently has 

relatively low levels of gearing. This 

will allow some of the envisaged 

refurbishment, expansion and 

acquisition to be financed from 

debt, although it is envisaged that 

some equity will need to be raised 

during the year;

• optimising the tenant mix and 

lease expiry profiles of its existing 

assets for the most sustainable 

income streams;

• completing the refurbishments 

and improvements of one of 

the buildings owned by Capital 

Properties in Dar es Salaam, 

Tanzania and Lousol Properties on 

Victoria Island, Lagos, Nigeria;

• completing the feasibility and 

starting the phase 2 expansion of 

Accra Mall, Ghana upon a positive 

feasibility;

• looking for smaller bolt-on 

acquisitions where SACREIL has 

existing assets, in order to enhance 

the operational leverage; and

• diversifying the portfolio and 

expanding into new countries 

where the Advisor has knowledge 

of the local operating environment. 

Opportunities are being assessed 

in Mozambique, Botswana, Kenya 

and Zambia.

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Accra Mall continues to dominate 

the retail landscape in Accra, 

notwithstanding the opening of 

several other malls in greater Accra. 

The centre, anchored by Shoprite 

and Game, two large South African 

retailers, is well located in one of 

the wealthiest parts of Accra and 

in close proximity to the Kotoka 

International Airport. The asset has 

operated with negligible vacancies 

and arrears during the year. Foot 

count and trading performance in the 

mall remained resilient, despite local 

economic challenges – including 

an inflation rate of around 17% and 

a weakening currency. A small 

expansion and a refurbishment of the 

food court in 2015, added 1,067m2 

to the Gross Lettable Area (GLA) of 

the mall, bringing the total GLA of 

the mall to 21,381m2. The feasibility 

study for the expansion of the Mall 

is well progressed. Should this 

expansion take place, it will be 

developed on the two adjacent 

pieces of land which were acquired 

in 2014. Given the current economic 

environment and the recent opening 

of a number of other malls in Accra, 

the potential expansion will be 

carefully considered and timed. 

The property was independently 

valued as at 31 December 2015 at 

USD101.4 million (excluding vacant 

land at a cost of USD10.5 million).

The three office towers, constituting 

Capital Properties, in Dar es Salaam 

remain prime assets, and one of the 

most desired commercial addresses 

within the CBD of Dar es Salaam. 

The towers, comprising a total GLA 

of 20,962m2, are occupied by strong 

tenants, including Barclays Bank and 

First National Bank. Rental growth 

in Dar es Salaam remains stable 

with few new developments in the 

pipeline. Capital Properties currently 

ADVISOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

has a temporarily increased vacancy 

rate, mainly due to the impending 

refurbishment of one of its office 

towers. Notwithstanding this, its 

operational performance remains 

as expected and the aggregate 

independent valuation for all of 

CPL's office towers has increased 

marginally to USD54.95 million as 

at 31 December 2015.

Atlantic House, an office tower 

located in a prime area on the 

water’s edge of Victoria Island, 

Lagos, is occupied by international 

tenants including the IFC and 

Cisco. Atlantic House continues 

to experience significant vacancy 

levels in a weakening Nigerian 

economy. There is also increased 

competition due to a significant 

increase in lettable office space 

in Lagos, with new developments 

becoming available for occupation. 

These market conditions have 

resulted in a decrease in the market 

rentals. The independent valuation 

for the property as at 31 December 

2015 decreased to USD44 million 

from USD53 million (December 

2014). There is a continued focus on 

improving the occupation experience 

for tenants and SACREIL  has 

embarked on a small refurbishment 

of Atlantic House subsequent to year-

end.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In spite of the challenging regional 

economic climate, SACREIL achieved 

a 6% increase in declared dividend 

per share for the financial year 

ended 31 December 2015. This 

dividend was declared in line with 

the Company’s policy of paying out in 

excess of the minimum of 90% of its 

"Available Cash". This is an extremely 

pleasing result.

However, after the settlement of 

dividends in 2015, the Net Asset 

Value (“NAV”) of the listed A Shares 

issued by the Company, decreased 

by 5% from USD6.0596 as at 

31 December 2014 to USD5.7959 at 

the end of the 2015 financial year. 

This decrease was due primarily to 

the write-down in value of Atlantic 

House, Lagos, as a result of the 

difficult trading conditions in that 

country. The other assets in Ghana 

and Tanzania, increased in value, 

which offset some of that decrease.

Overall, the Advisor is pleased 

to have assisted the Company in 

achieving this performance and, in 

particular, the portfolio of assets’ 

relative resilience given the difficult 

macroeconomic environment that 

was experienced.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

SAREA is optimistic about the 

prospects for SACREIL for 2016, 

and in particular, the opportunity to 

build on the strong existing platform. 

Our aim remains to continue advising 

SACREIL in the creation of the 

premier portfolio of quality industrial, 

retail and office real estate assets, 

on the African continent.

APPRECIATION

Our appreciation goes to the 

SACREIL Chairman and the Board 

of Directors for their contribution and 

insights, and to the Administrator, 

bankers, property managers and 

various other service providers for 

their support and cooperation during 

the year under review.

Gregory Chalmers

CEO of the Advisor
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NAV ACROSS SHARE CLASSES FOR 2015

USD Date Class A Class B Class C Total NAV

Year-end 31 Dec 14  100,809,466  13,220,177  100  114,029,743

Additional dividend paid (1,032,569) (1,032,569)

Reversal of additional dividend 

reserve

(68,470) (68,470)

Re-allocation of additional 

dividend reserve

 61,122  7,348  68,470

Decrease in net assets from 

operations

(4,447,057) (534,617) (4,981,674)

Year-end 31 Dec 15  96,423,531  11,591,869  100  108,015,500

OVERVIEW

The Class A shares of SACREIL 

were listed on the Stock Exchange 

of Mauritius on 16 May 2013 at an 

initial price of USD5.00 per share. 

The published net asset value 

(“NAV”) per share attributable to 

the Class A Shareholders at the 

end of each quarter, and the day 

preceding each capital drawdown, 

date, is set out in the graph below.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The objective of SACREIL is to 

maximise its total return, defined as 

an average internal rate of return 

(“IRR”), including realised income 

and capital gains, over a rolling five-

year period. However, until SACREIL 

has five completed annual financial 

years, the IRR will be computed from 

the commencement date to end of the 

financial year under consideration. 

SACREIL remains an attractive US 

dollar income generating investment 

and therefore retains focus on the 

ability to declare attractive dividends 

to its shareholders, with the targeted 

dividend yield being 4% of its 

opening NAV in every financial year.

$5.00

$5.25

$5.50

$5.75

$6.00

$6.25

$6.50
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ANALYSIS OF SACREIL’S TOTAL INCOME

The total income for SACREIL (net of in-country expenses) shown in the annual financial statements is broken down 

as follows:

SACREIL total income (USD) 2015 AMML APPL LPM SOHL SACREIL Total

Fair value adjustment of investment  5,143,975  1,503,796 (4,228,167)  –  –  2,419,604

Interest income  629,971  249,151  581,738  –  –  1,460,860

Dividend income  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Other income  –  –  –  –  1,731  1,731

Total  5,773,946  1,752,947 (3,646,429)  –  1,731  3,882,195

Based on SACREIL’s effective share of the companies listed above, SACREIL’s 2015 operating profit can be analysed 

as follows:

SACREIL operating profit (USD)

Accra

Mall

Capital

Properties

Atlantic

House SOHL SACREIL Total

Income in-country  4,138,562  4,350,238  5,870,268 – –  14,359,068

Expenses in-country  (1,042,393)  (596,420)  (1,417,518) – –  (3,056,332)

Net income in-country  3,096,169  3,753,818  4,452,750 – –  11,302,737

Other net income  213,404  685,210 –  1,731  900,345

Mauritian operating costs  (21,115)  (24,430)  (24,400)  (17,745)  (567,104)  (654,793)

Advisory fee – – – –  (2,677,442)  (2,677,442)

Interest expense (third-party funding)  (651,471)  (890,726)  (1,796,456) – –  (3,338,653)

Operating income before tax  2,636,988  3,523,872  2,631,894  (17,745)  (3,242,814)  5,532,194

Tax  (63,644)  (2,309,131)  (67,008) – –  (2,439,783)

Operating income after tax  2,573,344  1,214,741  2,564,886  (17,745)  (3,242,814)  3,092,411

Investment property revaluation  3,200,602  750,000  (9,000,000) – –  (5,049,398)

Tax –  (225,000) – – –  (225,000)

Net revaluation after tax  3,200,602  525,000  (9,000,000) – –  (5,274,398)

Operating profit (loss)  5,773,946  1,739,741  (6,435,114)  (17,745)  (3,242,814)  (2,181,987)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

COMPUTATION OF DISTRIBUTABLE PROFITS

In terms of the Constitution of SACREIL, Available Cash is defined as the profit generated by SACREIL less any 

profits attributable to the revaluation of the investment properties (adjusted for any deferred tax implications of those 

revaluations), and is computed as follows:

USD

Loss for the year (2,113,517)

Revaluation of Accra Mall (3,200,602)

Revaluation of CPL’s properties (750,000)

Revaluation of Atlantic House 9,000,000

Deferred tax impact relating to revaluations 1,712,201

Available Cash  4,648,082

Interim 2015 Distribution: 1,347,911

Final 2015 Distribution: 3,193,670

Aggregate 2015 Distribution 4,541,581

Distribution of Available Cash 97.71%

REVIEW OF 2015

The revaluations of the investment properties are explained as follows:

• Accra Mall was revalued from USD85.1 million as at 31 December 2014 to USD101.4 million as at 31 December 

2015 , which included the improvements which had been made to the food court, the additional entrance and 

the initial minor expansion to the GLA above the STP. SACREIL’s effective share of this increased valuation was 

USD47.6 million.  The vacant land alongside Accra Mall continues to be held at cost (USD10.5 million), with 

SACREIL's effective share thereof being USD4.96 million.

• CPL was revalued from USD54.2 million as at 31 December 2014 to USD54.95 million as at 31 December 2015.

• Atlantic House was revalued from USD53 million as at 31 December 2014 to USD44.0 million as at 31 December 2015.

The gross asset value of the Company is sensitive to the Independent Valuer’s valuations of the Company’s properties, 

which are, in turn sensitive to the valuation parameters used, in particular the discount and reversionary capitalisation rates.

In terms of the SACREIL Investment Charter, the target is to pay a dividend of 4% of the opening NAV.

The opening NAV per share was USD6.0596. An interim dividend of USD0.0723 per share was declared and paid in 

2015. After due consideration, the Board declared a final dividend of USD0.1714 per share in respect of the period from 

1 July 2015 to 31 December 2015. The final dividend was paid in April 2016. This brings the aggregate dividend for the 

2015 financial year to USD0.2437 which meets the target dividend yield of 4%.

In terms of the SACREIL Constitution, the dividend in respect of any period must be at least 90% of Available Cash. 

The Company complied with this requirement for the 2015 financial year.
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THE STRENGTH OF OUR 

BUSINESS ACROSS AFRICA 

LIES IN PARTNERSHIPS AND 

PEOPLE. TO EVERYONE 

INVOLVED IN OUR ASSETS - 

THANK YOU.

GOVERNANCE 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND COMMITTEES 

ANIL CURRIMJEE 
BA Liberal Arts, MBA (London Business School)
(Mauritian, Non-executive Independent Director)

Anil Currimjee is a director of one of the largest commercial/business groups in Mauritius, namely 

the Currimjee Group, which has operations in both Mauritius and Seychelles. The Currimjee Group 

was established in 1890 with diversified activities in the following clusters: telecommunications, 

media and IT; real estate; hospitality and tourism; energy; commerce and financial services; 

and manufacturing, marketing and distribution. He was Chairman of the Mauritius Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry during 2003 and the Chairman of the Joint Business Council Mauritius 

India, since 2004 (Mauritius Chamber of Commerce and Industry – Committee). He has been the 

Honorary Consul General of Japan in Mauritius since 2003.

Anil is a director of five other listed companies.

PETER COOK 
BSc Eng, MBA (Wharton)
(South African, Non-executive Independent Director)

Peter Cook was a non-executive director at Vukile Properties until he retired in 2013, having served 

on that board since 2004. Peter retired as an executive director of Sanlam’s financial engineering 

subsidiary Sanlam Capital Markets Limited ("SCM") in 2005. He continued to serve on the board and 

board committees of SCM and other Sanlam subsidiaries until his retirement therefrom with effect from 

31 March 2016. Peter was the deputy chief executive of Gensec Bank (now SCM) from 2001 to 2004 

and the executive director responsible for finance, risk management and other support functions of 

investment banking group Genbel Securities from 1997 to 2000. From 1993 to 1997, Peter was the finance 

and administration director of the oil company, Engen. Prior to 1993 he held various executive financial 

and investment positions in the mining finance house, Gencor.

Peter is not a director of any other listed companies.

YAN CHONG NG CHENG HIN
BSc (Hons) MSc FCA TEP
(Mauritian, Non-executive Director)

Yan Ng is an executive director of Intercontinental Trust Limited. He specialises in the structuring and 

administration of investment funds and listed companies. He is a board member of a number of funds and 

listed companies in Mauritius. He was previously with Baker Tilly Mauritius and Deloitte in Luxembourg 

and was trained as a chartered accountant in London.

He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and of the Society 

of Trust and Estate Practitioners. He is an executive committee member of the Association of Trust and 

Management Companies and the International Fiscal Association in Mauritius.

Yan graduated from the University of Mauritius (BSc (Hons)) with a degree in Management and achieved 

a Masters in Finance (MSc) from Lancaster University.

Yan Ng is a director of two other listed companies.

GREGORY CHALMERS
B Comm, LLB, H. Dip. Tax, Admitted Attorney in South Africa
(South African, Non-executive Director)

Prior to joining Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor in 2012, Greg was the Chief Investment Officer 

for a private equity fund, with operations and assets (including real estate) in various African 

countries. He has previously been the CEO of a commercial property fund, listed on both the 

JSE and the Namibian Stock Exchange. In addition, Greg has 15 years’ investment banking 

experience in M&A, particularly Real Estate. Prior to moving into investment banking, he practised 

as an attorney for a period post his admission.

JOHAN VAN DER MERWE 
BCom (Cum Laude), BCom (Hons), MCom Tax, M.Phil Finance (Cambridge), CA(SA)
(South African, Non-executive Director) 

Johan completed his BCom degree in accounting cum laude from the University of Pretoria. In 

1987 he completed his BCom (Hons) degree in accounting. He started working at Deloitte & 

Touche and also lectured Accounting and Auditing at the university of Pretoria. He passed his 

qualifying examination for the Public Accountants and Auditors Board the following year.

He completed his MCom (tax) at the University of Pretoria in 1990 and his MPhil Finance at 

Cambridge in 1991.

In 1991 he moved to Gencor’s Corporate Finance division. He was one of the core team members 

who helped to finalise the Billiton transaction and after its completion he became responsible for 

Corporate Finance and Tax at Billiton. He joined Investec Asset Management in 1997 as Sector 

Head of SA Resources, became head of Equities in 1999 and was promoted to Global Sector Head 

of Resources in April 2000. He was assigned responsibility for the Botswana office and for Private 

Equity, and was a director and executive committee member of Investec Asset Management. He 

joined Sanlam Investment Management in July 2002 as CEO. In May 2003, Johan was appointed 

CEO of the Investment Cluster responsible for all the Investment businesses in the Sanlam Group. 

From the beginning of 2007 he became head of the Institutional Cluster in the Sanlam Group. 

With effect from 31 January 2016, Johan resigned from his executive roles within the Sanlam group 

retaining certain non-executive directorships.

Johan is a director of one other listed company.

JIMNAH MBARU
BCom (Hons), LLB, MBA (IMD), Fellow of the Kenya Institute of Management
(Kenyan, Non-executive Independent Director)

Mr Jimnah Mbaru is the Chairman of Dyer and Blair Investment Bank Ltd (Kenya) and Dyer and 

Blair Investment Bank Ltd (Uganda). He is a well-known Investment Banker who has spearheaded 

various development phases in the Kenyan and African capital markets at large. 

Mr Mbaru has also served as Chairman of the Nairobi Stock Exchange (NSE) in 1992 to 2001 and 

2006 to 2008, he was the founder Chairman of African Stock Exchanges Association from 1993 

to 1995 and 1998 to 2000. From 1971 to 80, he worked for the Kenyan Government in the Ministry 

of Commerce and Industry. He established Jimba Credit Corporation in 1980, Kenya Savings 

and Mortgages in 1983, and Union Bank of Kenya in 1984. Mr Mbaru is a director of several 

companies/organisations including Financial, Insurance, Health, Policy Analysis, Government 

and Education Sectors in Kenya and Africa. 
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

DIRECTOR BOARD

AUDIT AND RISK 

MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT 

COMMITTEE

Anil Currimjee(1)* 6/6

Peter Cook(2)* 6/6 7/7 1/1

Tiny Kgatlwane(3)# –

Yan Ng(4)# 6/6 7/7

Vincent Rague(5)* 2/2 1/1

Thomas Reilly(6)# 5/5 1/1

Johan van der Merwe(7)# 3/6

Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru(8)* 2/4

Gregory Chalmers(9)# 1/1

(1) Anil Currimjee was appointed to the Board on 29 January 2013. Mr Currimjee is the Chairman of  the Board.
(2) Peter Cook was appointed to the Board on 29 January 2013. He was appointed as a member of  the Investment Committee on 27 June 2013 and 

to the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 27 June 2013. Mr. Cook is the Chairman of  the Audit and Risk Management Committee. Mr Cook 
has indicated that he will retire as a director prior to the next Annual Meeting of  Shareholders and will therefore not be available for further election 
at that meeting.

(3) Tiny Kgatlwane was appointed to the Board on 29 January 2013. Ms. Kgatlwane resigned from the Board on 1 March 2015.
(4) Yan Ng was appointed  to the Board  on 9 May 2012. He was appointed  as a member of   the Audit and  Risk Management Committee on 27 June 

2013. Kesaven Moothoosamy attended the Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting as an alternate director to Mr Ng on one occasion.
(5) Vincent  Rague  was  appointed  to  the  Board  on  27  February  2013.  Mr Rague resigned from the Board on 31 May 2015, having attended both 

Board meetings before then.
(6) Thomas Reilly was appointed to the Board on 6 April 2012. Mr. Reilly resigned from the Board on 5 October 2015, having attended all Board 

meetings before then.
(7)  Johan van der Merwe was appointed to the Board on 29 January 2013. 
(8) Jimnah Mbaru was appointed to the Board on 31 March 2015, after which there were four Board meetings called before year-end.
(9) Gregory Chalmers was appointed to the Board on 3 November 2015 and attended the only Board meeting held thereafter and before year-end.
* Non-executive Independent Director
# Non-executive Director

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

SACREIL does not have any employees and as such does not have a Remuneration Committee. SACREIL has contracts 
with its directors and service providers, the two main ones being SAREA and ITL. The directors’ fees for each director 
are set out below:

DIRECTOR

RETAINER 

FEES

USD

BOARD 

MEETING

 USD

INVESTMENT 

COMMITTEE 

MEETING 

USD

AUDIT & RISK

 MANAGEMENT 

COMMITTEE 

MEETING

 USD

TOTAL

USD

Anil Currimjee 12,000 12,000 – – 24,000

Peter Cook 8,000 12,000 2,000 21,000 43,000

Thomas Reilly* 6,000 8,000 3,000 – 17,000

Vincent Rague** 3,333 4,000 2,000 – 9,333

Tiny Kgatlwane*** 1,333 – – – 1,333

Johan van der Merwe 8,000 6,000 – – 14,000

Jimnah Mbaru****  6 022  4 000 – – 10,022

Gregory Chalmers***** 1,275 2,000 – – 3,275

Total USD 45,964 48,000 7,000 21,00 121,964

* Please note that Mr. Thomas Reilly resigned as director of  the Company on 5 October 2015.
** Please note that Mr. Vincent Rague resigned as director on 31 May 2015.
*** Please note that Mrs. Tiny Kgatlwane resigned as director on 1 March 2015. 
**** Please note that Mr. Jimnah Mbaru was appointed as director of  the Company on 31 March 2015.
***** Please note that Mr. Gregory Chalmers was appointed as director of  the Company on the 3 November 2015.

REMUNERATION REVIEW
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Directors' selection

Shareholders are ultimately 
responsible for electing or removing 
Board members. Board members 
are selected to achieve a mix of  skills 
and knowledge appropriate to the 
Company’s business.

Audit and Risk Management 

Committee

The committee is a committee of  the 
Board of  Directors of  the Company, 
established on 27 June 2013 to 
assist the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities relating to:

• the safeguarding of the Company’s 

assets;

• the appropriateness and 

effectiveness of the Company’s 

system of internal controls;

• the quality and integrity of financial 

reporting and disclosures, and the 

risks related thereto;

• the qualification, independence, 

performance and fees of the 

external auditors of the Company;

• the performance and fees of 

Internal Audit as an internal 

assurance provider; and

• the Company’s compliance with 

all applicable legal, regulatory and 

accounting requirements.

• the outcome of a self-evaluation of 

the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee conducted in 2015 

was satisfactory;

• an assessment of service 

providers, including, but not limited 

to, the Company’s Administrator 

and the Company’s Advisor; and

• an assessment of the adequacy or 

otherwise of the insurance cover 

taken out by the Company and 

investee companies.

The committee consists of  one 
independent non-executive director 
(Peter Cook) and one non-executive 
director (Yan Ng).

It is an aspiration that the committee 
will, in due course, consist of  
a majority of  independent non- 
executive directors.

The committee meets at least quarterly 
and held seven meetings during the 
year ended 31 December 2015.

The committee’s responsibilities and 
duties are governed by terms of  
reference that were approved by the 
Board.

The committee provides feedback to 
the Board following all meetings.

Investment Committee

• The Company shall not make an 

investment or disposal without the 

prior agreement of the Investment 

Committee. The Company has an 

Investment Charter which sets out 

investment guidelines.

• At 31 December 2015 the 

Investment Committee comprised 

of two non-executive directors 

(Peter Cook and Gregory 

Chalmers) and a further three 

members (Eric Visser from Sentinel 

Retirement Fund, Kudzani Pickup 

from Botswana Insurance Fund 

Management and Andre Rheeder 

representing Sanlam Life Insurance 

Limited) that were appointed in 

terms of the Company Constitution 

that allows for large investors 

to appoint a member to the 

investment committee.

Key risks

The key risks and management 
thereof  are dealt with on pages 30 
and 31.

Company diary

A timetable regarding important 
events, including reporting dates, 
dividend declaration and payment 
dates, and meetings of  shareholders, 
is set out on page 71.

Share price information

Share price information is set out on 
page 73.

Donations.

The Company did not make any 
donations in the year under review.

Corporate citizenship

The Company takes all necessary 
steps to be a good corporate citizen.

Other

In addition to items mentioned above, 
the Company is compliant with the 
following sections of  the code of  
Corporate Governance for Mauritius:

• Company Secretary – 

Intercontinental Trust Limited acts 

as the Company Secretary and 

administrator, including performing 

secretarial duties for the Board, 

the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee and the Investment 

Committee.

• Given the business model of 

the Company described in the 

Company profile, the Company has 

no employees and has therefore 

not established a Remuneration 

Committee. 

• Corporate Governance and 

Nomination Committees have 

not been established and, as the 

Company evolves, these will be 

considered. 

• The Company does not have an 

internal audit function. Internal 

audit work would be carried out by 

external audit firms on an ad hoc 

basis should the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee deem it 

necessary. 

• The Company does not have a 

Chief Executive Officer. If the 

circumstances or the business 

model of the Company change, 

consideration will be given to the 

appointment of a Chief Executive 

Officer.

• Social and Environmental Policies: 

The Company will take all possible 

measures to reduce the social 

and environmental impact of its 

operations and properties, as and 

when required. 

• Ethical Behaviour: the Board 

ensures ethical behaviour in all its 

dealings, such that stakeholders 

can expect that the Company will 

act in good faith, with no bribery 

ever accepted or permitted and all 

conflicts of interest disclosed.

• Shareholder Agreement: there is 

currently no shareholder agreement 

affecting governance of the board 

of the Company. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REVIEW

The Board endorses the code of 

corporate practices and conduct 

as set out in the Code of Corporate 

Governance for Mauritius (the 

“Code”) and has adhered to the Code 

except as disclosed in this review. 

There are no material clauses in the 

Company's Constitution other than 

those disclosed in this annual report, 

although it is important to note that 

the Company's Constitution and 

Investment Charter are important 

documents which should be 

understood by all stakeholders.

Holding structure

The corporate structure of SACREIL 

is shown on page 5. Various 

companies in the Sanlam Limited 

(“Sanlam”) group of companies 

hold shares in SACREIL which, in 

aggregate, comprised 58.98% of the 

shares of SACREIL as 31 December 

2015. Accordingly Sanlam is currently 

the ultimate holding company of 

SACREIL. An analysis of SACREIL’s 

shareholders is shown on page 72, 

including all shareholders holding 

more than 5% of the Company.

Dividend policy

SACREIL’s dividend policy is set out 

in its Constitution and Investment 

Charter. A quantity termed Available 

Cash is computed as the profit 

earned, for the dividend period under 

consideration, less profits resulting 

from the revaluation of the underlying 

investment properties (adjusted 

for any deferred tax implications of 

those revaluations), in that period. 

In terms of the Constitution, at least 

90% of Available Cash must be paid 

as a dividend to the Class A and 

Class B Shareholders. In terms of 

the Investment Charter, SACREIL 

targets a dividend which is 4% of 

the opening NAV per financial year. 

The Board will declare dividends 

based on the requirements of the 

Constitution and Investment Charter 

, and always subject to the Mauritian 

Companies Act.

The Board of Directors

• The board comprises three 

independent non-executive 

directors and three non-executive 

directors. The determination of 

whether a director is independent 

or not, and non-executive or not, is 

based on the criteria as set out in 

the Code.

• The directors do not have fixed-

term contracts and the notice 

period for termination or resignation 

is 30 days’ notice. The directors 

are elected annually at the Annual 

General Meeting.

• Apart from Gregory Chalmers, 

none of the directors had any direct 

or indirect interest in the Company 

as at 31 December 2015. In terms 
of  the remuneration arrangements 
of  the Advisor, Thomas Reilly had 
been awarded conditional rights to 
receive certain SACREIL Class A 
Shares from the Advisor, vesting on 
1 June of  each year beginning in 
2015. As a result of  his resignation, 
the rights have lapsed. 

• A list of directors’ interests is 

maintained and directors confirm 

that the list is co rrect at each 

quarterly board meeting. The 

Company has a Conflict of Interest 

policy which sets out the directors’ 

responsibilities in respect of 

potential and perceived conflicts 

of interest. Primarily, directors 

are expected to avoid conflicts 

of interest and, where this is 

not possible, directors have a 

responsibility to disclose any areas 

of (potential) conflict of interest to 

the Company, following which the 

Company, through the Audit and 

Risk Management Committee, will 

make a recommendation of the 

required remedial action.

• Information on the individual board 

members and their respective 

profiles are disclosed on pages 24 

and 25. Directors’ remuneration is 

disclosed on page 27.

Related party transactions

The Company has not entered into 
transactions with any of  its directors, 
other than directorship contracts 
which are at arm’s length and at 
market related rates. The Company 
has not entered into transactions 
with the Advisor, SAREA, nor the 

Administrator, ITL, other than 
those specifi cally provided for in 
the Advisory and Administration 
Agreements, respectively. There is 
no other management agreement 
between the Company and any third 
party which was signed during the 
year under review.

Dealing in the shares of the 

Company

No director has dealt in the shares 
of  the Company for the period under 
review. Should a director wish to deal 
in the shares of  the Company, such 
director would follow the principles 
and rules set out in the Stock 
Exchange of  Mauritius listings rules 
dealing with the matter.

Role of the Board

• The Board is ultimately 

accountable and responsible 

for the performance and affairs 

of the Company. In addition 

the Board ensures that the 

Company complies with the 

listings requirements of the Stock 

Exchange of Mauritius.

• Quarterly Board meetings have 

taken place since inception of 

the Company. Additional Board 

meetings were held when the need 

arose. In 2015, a total of six Board 

meetings took place.

• the outcome of a self-evaluation of 

the Board conducted in 2015 was 
satisfactory.

Role of the Chairman

The chairperson is an independent 
non-executive director. The role and 
function of  the Chairman is to engage 
the service providers on all material 
matters affecting the Company and 
the Board, to preside over meetings 
of  directors and ensure appropriate 
time is spent on the key issues facing 
the Company.

Role of the Non-executive and 

Independent directors

Non-executive and independent 
directors play a vital role in providing 
independent judgement in all 
circumstances. All directors are 
bound by fi duciary duties and duties 
of  care and skill.
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The Company’s objective in managing 

risk is the creation and protection of  

shareholder value. Risk is inherent 

in the Company’s activities, but it 

is managed through a process of  

ongoing identifi cation, measurement 

and monitoring of  risks, subject to risk 

limits and other controls. The process 

of  risk management is critical to the 

Company’s continuing profi tability.

Risk management structure

The Board of  Directors of  the 

Company has established an Audit 

and Risk Management Committee 

to assist the Board of  Directors 

in discharging its responsibilities 

relating to the list of  items referred to 

in the description of  that Committee’s 

responsibilities on page 29.

Risk measurement and reporting 

system

The Committee will examine 

and review the annual fi nancial 

statements, the interim reports, 

the accompanying reports to 

shareholders, the preliminary 

announcement of  results and any 

other announcement regarding the 

Company’s results or other fi nancial 

information to be made public, prior 

to submission to, and approval by, the 

Board of  Directors.

KEY RISK FACTORS AND 
RISK MANAGEMENT

The following are the key risk factors that have been identifi ed as currently relating to the SACREIL business:

RISK CATEGORY RISK EXPLANATION RISK MITIGATION

Ownership Risk The risk that SACREIL cannot obtain full 

title, or no longer has title to an investment 

property (e.g. lease of  land expires without 

renewal, changes in law, land claims).

When acquiring an asset a thorough legal 

due diligence is conducted. 

Structural Risk The risk that the investment property 

structure is no longer suitable for leasing.  

This may be due to reasons including 

structural defects, terrorist attacks, fi re; 

natural disasters, changes in law.

When acquiring an asset a thorough 

structural due diligence is conducted. 

Assets are adequately insured and 

monitored constantly.

Income Risk The risk of  not being able to maintain the 

level of  net income associated with the 

building, typically due to increased costs 

or vacancies.

In-country tenant ability to afford rentals 

due to depreciation of  the local currency.

Long-term leases are entered into as far 

as possible.

Property manager fees are usually a 

percentage of  collections.

Costs are controlled and measured 

against an approved budget.

Competition Risk The risk of  a new supply of  offi ces and 

malls, and the size of  the market itself.

The risk of  competitors entering the 

market.

Market intelligence is constantly obtained 

and considered by the Advisor.  Informed 

actions (pricing and concessions) are 

made to retain and attract tenants.

Taxation Risk The risk of  existing tax laws being 

changed, new tax laws being introduced, 

changes in the interpretation of  existing 

laws.

Ongoing tax advice is obtained from 

appropriate tax experts in respect of  the 

regions in which SACREIL has invested.

Currency Risk SACREIL is invested in assets that earn 

various currencies (USD, Cedi, Naira, 

Tanzanian Shillings), leading to the 

exposure of  parts of  the portfolio to the 

change in the value of  a specifi c currency 

in relation to the USD, the calculation 

currency in which the Company’s 

performance is measured.

Income is generally indexed to USD and 

debt funding has been obtained in USD. 

This risk is reduced provided that SACREIL 

can regularly and readily externalise 

USD from the respective countries to 

service its debt and provide a return to its 

shareholders.

RISK CATEGORY RISK EXPLANATION RISK MITIGATION

Financing/ Refi nancing 

Risk

The risk that fi nance will be more 

expensive than envisaged or that there is 

an inability to obtain fi nance.

Breach of  loan covenants due to the 

underlying properties performance.

SACREIL has established relationships 

with various banks and fi nancial 

institutions.

Loan covenants are monitored 

continuously.

Long-term facilities have been negotiated 

where deemed appropriate.

Sovereign Risk Country specifi c risk including a 

government’s policies and practices 

restricting the ability of  borrowers and 

investors in that country to meet their 

obligations thus affecting the ability of  

SACREIL to achieve its anticipated returns

The inability to obtain USD in the countries 

in which SACREIL has invested.

The Company approved countries (per the 

Investment Charter) generally have stable 

governments, and appropriate policies to 

mitigate this risk.

Regulatory Risk The risk of  not complying with regulatory 

requirements, the risk of  regulations 

being changed or new regulations being 

introduced in some way affecting the 

viability of  SACREIL’s investments.

Advice is obtained from appropriate 

experts in respect of  the regions in which 

SACREIL has invested.

Execution Risk The risk of  not acquiring assets as a 

result of  being unable to conclude due 

diligences in a timeous manner.

Enforcing strict adherence to timelines by 

external advisors and an effi cient internal 

approval process.
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ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

COMMENTARY OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their commentary and the audited financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate 

Investments Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in commercial real estate in selected countries in 

sub-Saharan Africa. These investments are normally held indirectly through holding(s) in a company/companies 

holding the underlying real estate assets.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s operating losses for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to USD2,181,987 (2014: operating 

profit of USD8,340,285).

The directors have approved a total final ordinary dividend of USD3,193,670 to Class A and B shareholders (equivalent 

to USD0.1714 per share) which, together with the interim dividend, equates to a total dividend for the year ended 

31 December 2015 of USD4,541,581 (equivalent to USD0.2437 per share) (2014: USD3,664,778, equivalent to 

USD0.2299 per share).

DIRECTORS

The directors in office during the year are as stated on page 26.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, 

comprising the Company’s Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2015, the Statement of Profit or Loss 

and Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Shareholders and the 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary 

of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and in compliance with the Companies Act 2001.

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason 

to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their 

reappointment will be proposed at the next Annual Meeting of the Shareholders in accordance with section 200 of the 

Companies Act 2001.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SANLAM AFRICA CORE REAL ESTATE 

INVESTMENTS LIMITED

CERTIFICATION BY COMPANY 
SECRETARY

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the “Company”) on 

pages 36 to 69 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to shareholders and statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 36 to 69 give a true and fair view of the financial position of Sanlam 

Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited as at 31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 

comply with the Companies Act 2001.

OTHER MATTER

This report has been prepared solely for the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 205 of the 

Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 

by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, 

as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Companies Act 2001

We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as auditors and dealings in the 

ordinary course of business. 

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination 

of those records.

Ernst & Young Andre Lai Wan Loong, A.C.A

Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC

25 March 2016

We certify, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited 

(“the Company”) has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns as are required of the Company under 

section 166 (d) of the Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Intercontinental Trust Limited

Company Secretary

25 March 2016

Level 3

Alexander House

35 Cybercity

Ebène 

Mauritius
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

  2015 2014

  Notes USD USD

INCOME    

Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8 2,419,604 8,540,292

Interest income 6 1,460,860 1,361,642 

Dividend income 13 – 1,645,000 

Other income 5 1,731 350,002

  3,882,195 11,896,936

EXPENSES    

Provision for impairment of loan receivable 7 (2,819,636) (33,328)

Loan interest 9 – (840,710) 

Professional fees 14 (331,601) (102,967) 

Advisory fees 10 (2,677,442) (2,314,998) 

Audit fees (17,480) (20,930)

Bank charges (8,154) (10,362)

Accounting fees (55,250) (56,250) 

Disbursements (626) (1,003) 

Licence fees (19,834) (15,945)

Directors fees 15 (121,964) (131,000)

Other expenses (12,195) (29,158) 

  (6,064,182) (3,556,651)

OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT (2,181,987) 8,340,285

Finance costs

Distribution to shareholders 19 (2,799,687) (3,697,057)

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (4,981,674) 4,643,228

Income tax expense 4 – – 

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO SHAREHOLDERS FROM OPERATIONS (4,981,674) 4,643,228

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

The notes on pages 40 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements. The notes on pages 40 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements.

  2015 2014

Notes USD USD

ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 23 1,911,775 10,519,262

Loan receivable 6 45,340,208 46,206,413

Interest receivable 6 943,940 113,051

Other receivables and prepayments 7 324,049 79,132

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 8 60,253,645 57,834,041

Total assets 108,773,617 114,751,899

LIABILITIES    

Advisory fees payable 10 (670,920) (641,915)

Other payables and accruals 11 (87,197) (80,241)

Total liabilities excluding net assets attributable to shareholders (758,117) (722,156)

Net assets attributable to shareholders 108,015,500 114,029,743

Net assets attributable to:

– Class A 12 96,423,531 100,809,466

– Class B 12 11,591,869 13,220,177

– Class C 12 100 100

Net assets attributable to shareholders 108,015,500 114,029,743

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Net assets attributable to

Class A Class B Class C Total

USD USD USD USD

2014

At 1 January 2014 52,298,506 12,526,744 100 64,825,350

Capital drawn down 44,561,165 – – 44,561,165

Increase in net assets attributable to 

shareholders from operations excluding 

additional dividend reserve 3,949,795 624,963 – 4,574,758

Additional dividend reserve1 – 68,470 – 68,470

Increase in net assets attributable to 

shareholders from operations 3,949,795 693,433 – 4,643,228

At 31 December 2014 100,809,466 13,220,177 100 114,029,743

Number of shares in issue 16,636,409 2,000,000 100

Net asset value per share USD6.0596 USD6.6101 USD1

2015

At 1 January 2015 100,809,466 13,220,177 100 114,029,743

Additional dividend paid (1,032,569) (1,032,569)

Reversal of additional dividend reserve (68,470) (68,470)

Re-allocation of additional dividend reserve 61,122 7,348 68,470

Decrease in net assets attributable to 

shareholders from operations excluding 

additional dividend reserve (4,447,057) (534,617) – (4,981,674)

Additional dividend reserve1 – – – –

Decrease in net assets attributable to 

shareholders from operations (4,447,057) (534,617) – (4,981,674)

At 31 December 2015 96,423,531 11,591,869 100 108,015,500

Number of shares in issue 16,636,409 2,000,000 100

Net asset value per share USD5.7959 USD5.7959 USD1

1 Refer to note 12 for additional information on the additional dividend reserve.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

2015 2014

Notes USD USD

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to shareholders 

from operations (4,981,674) 4,643,228 

Net changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in loans to joint venture and subsidiaries 6 866,205 (29,018,478)

(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable 6 (830,889) 46,259

Increase in other receivables and prepayments 7 (244,917) (51,327)

Increase in financial assets designated at fair value through 

profit or loss 8 (2,419,604) (8,540,292)

Decrease in loan interest payable – (9,941)

Increase in advisory fees payable 10 29,005 254,954

Increase/(decrease) in other payables 11 6,956 (906,061)

Net cash utilised in operating activities (7,574,918) (33,581,658)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings – 50,750,000

Repayment of borrowings – (53,250,000)

Proceeds from issue of shares – 44,561,165

Additional dividend paid – restricted to Class B shareholder 12 (1,032,569) –

Net cash flows (used in)/provided from financing activities (1,032,569) 42,061,165

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,607,487) 8,479,507

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,519,262 2,039,755 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 1,911,775 10,519,262

The notes on pages 40 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements.The notes on pages 40 to 69 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. LEGAL FORM AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius 

as a private company limited by shares in accordance with the Companies Act 2001. The Company was converted 

to a Category 1 Global Business on the 29 March 2013 and was converted to a public company on the 8 April 2013. 

Its registered office is Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, Mauritius.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius as from 16 May 2013 and operates as a closed-ended 

fund. The principal activity of the Company is to hold investments in core real estate assets in select sub-Saharan 

African countries. The Company aims to provide investors with both dollar based income yield and longer-term 

capital growth. 

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue in 

accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 25 March 2016.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for financial instruments at fair 

value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USD”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 

USD, except when otherwise indicated. 

2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into the following 

categories, in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is sub-divided into:

• Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition: these 

include investment in subsidiaries and an investment in a joint venture. These financial assets are 

designated upon initial recognition on the basis that they are part of a group of financial assets 

which are managed and have their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with 

risk management and investment strategies of the Company, as set out in the Company’s offering 

document.

• Investment in subsidiaries: In accordance with the exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 

Statements, the Company does not consolidate subsidiaries in the financial statements since it 

has taken the investment entity exception available under IFRS 10. Investments in subsidiaries are 

accounted for as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The exception is applicable 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and the Company early adopted this 

exception during the year ended 31 December 2013.

• Investment in joint venture: The Company, being an investment entity, has designated its investment 

in joint venture on initial recognition in accordance with the election permitted in IAS 28 Investments 

in Associates and Joint Ventures, at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IAS 39.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market.

(ii) Financial assets – initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as 

derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Company 

determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 

through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 

regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, ie, 

the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

The Company’s financial assets include financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans 

and receivables.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as set out below:

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets designated upon initial 

recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at 

fair value through profit or loss, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial 

instruments are recorded in net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Interest and dividend earned on these instruments are recorded separately in interest income and 

dividend income.

• Loans and receivables

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 

effective interest rate method (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 

account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 

EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in profit or loss. The losses arising from 

impairment are recognised in profit or loss. 

(iii) Financial assets – derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised when:

•   The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

•   The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 

‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 

the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 

a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the 

Company’s continuing involvement in the asset.

In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the 

associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company 

has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Company could be required to repay.
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each calendar quarter reporting date whether there is any objective 

evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets should be impaired. A financial asset 

or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of 

impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 

(an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 

financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 

may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial 

difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a 

measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 

conditions that correlate with defaults.

(v) Financial liabilities – initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate. The Company determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 

recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings, payables and redeemable participating 

shares (refer to note (h)).

(vi) Financial liabilities – subsequent measurement

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss 

when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost 

is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an 

integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in profit or loss. 

(vii) Financial liabilities – derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligations under the liability are all discharged or 

cancelled or expire.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 

is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the 

difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

(viii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 

financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously.

(ix) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined 

by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price 

for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 

valuation techniques. Such techniques may include: 

• Using recent arm’s length market transactions

• Reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same

• A discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are 

provided in note 8.

(b) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS

Functional and presentation currency
The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in USD for the benefit of 

its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly USD-

denominated. The Company’s performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers 

USD as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, 

events and conditions. Therefore the Company’s functional and presentation currency is the USD.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 

of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-

monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses on financial 

instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income as part of the ‘net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’.

(c) REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company 

and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is 

measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all 

interest-bearing financial instruments using the EIR method.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

(d) EXPENSE RECOGNITION

All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

(e) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For the purpose of the statement of cash 

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (CONTINUED)
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2.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 

the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company 

expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset 

but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in 

profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 

reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

(g) INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for all 

interest-bearing financial instruments using the effective interest rate (“EIR”).

(h) REDEEMABLE PARTICIPATING SHARES

Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholders’ or the Company’s option upon 

such terms and conditions as stated in the Company’s Constitution and are classified as financial liabilities 

(designated at fair value through profit or loss, due to the fact that the shares are part of a group of financial 

assets which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 

documented risk management or investment strategy). The liabilities arising from the redeemable shares are 

carried at the redemption amount being the net asset value calculated in accordance with IFRS.

Please see note 12 to the financial statements for further details on the redeemable participating shares.

(i) CURRENT INCOME TAX

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to 

be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 

amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the 

Company operates and generates taxable income. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 

statement of profit or loss. The Company periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 

to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 

where appropriate.

(j) DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax 

liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 

interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 

and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 

credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 

the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 

which the temporary differences can be utilised;

• deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

(k) DISTRIBUTION TO SHAREHOLDERS

Unrealised gains and losses are included in the net assets attributable to shareholders and are distributable 

as follows:

Class A 
The Company’s Constitution provides that a minimum dividend of 90% of available cash (as that term is 

defined in the Company’s Constitution) must be declared as dividends, but does not specify a maximum 

dividend. 

Class B shareholders – Additional Dividend
The Class B Shares confer the right to receive an Additional Dividend should certain hurdle target returns 

for the Company be exceeded. At a high level, to the extent the Company’s return exceeds 10% but is below 

15%, the Additional Dividend is 15% of the excess, and to the extent the Company’s return exceeds 15%, 

the Additional Dividend is 20% of the excess. In order for the Additional Dividend to be ultimately declared, 

the Company’s net asset value in the following year must be no less than 10% higher as compared to the 

previous year’s net asset value.

Distributions to shareholders are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income as finance costs.

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following 

new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted in the year commencing 1 January 2015:

Amendments Effective for accounting period beginning on or after

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 Cycle 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle 1 July 2014

Where the adoption of the standard or interpretation or improvement is deemed to have an impact on the financial 

statements or performance of the Company, its impact is described below:

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 Cycle – effective 1 July 2014
The annual improvements 2010 – 2012 Cycle make amendments to the following standards:

• IFRS 2 – Amends the definitions of ‘vesting condition’ and ‘market condition’ and adds definitions for 

‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’;

• IFRS 3 – Requires contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability to be measured at fair 

value at each reporting date;

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

• IFRS 8 – Requires disclosure of the judgements made by management in applying the aggregation criteria to 

operating segments; clarifies that reconciliations of segment assets are only required if segment assets are 

reported to the chief operating decision maker;

• IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarifies that the gross amount of property, plant and equipment is adjusted in a manner 

consistent with a revaluation of the carrying amount by either adjusting the gross carrying amount to the market 

value or proportionately adjusting the gross carrying amount; and 

• IAS 24 – Clarifies how payments to entities providing management services are to be disclosed.

These improvements did not have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Company.

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle – effective 1 July 2014
The annual improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle make amendments to the following standards:

• IFRS 3 – Clarifies that IFRS 3 excludes from its scope the accounting for the formation of a joint arrangement in 

the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself;

• IFRS 13 – Clarifies the scope of the portfolio exception in paragraph 52 in that it does not only apply financial 

assets and financial liabilities but also to other contracts within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9 as applicable; and 

• IAS 40 – Clarifies the interrelationship of IFRS 3 and IAS 40 when determining whether or not a transaction is 

the purchase of an asset or a business combination.

These improvements did not have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Company.

2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. 

They are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on the specified dates, but the Company has not early 

adopted them:

New or revised standards and interpretations:

New or revised standards

Effective for accounting period 

beginning on or after

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Amendments

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2017

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations -

Amendments to IFRS 11 1 January 2016

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS28) *

Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle 1 July 2016

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 January 2016

All other new standards/amendments that are not yet effective are not considered to have a significant impact on 

the entity.

* In December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of 
accounting.

NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and measurement of financial assets, Accounting for 

financial liabilities and derecognition – 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all 

three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment 

and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with 

early application permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing 

comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied 

prospectively, with some limited exceptions.

IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets, as follows:

Classification and measurement of financial assets 
All financial assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition, adjusted for transaction costs if the instrument 
is not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Debt instruments are subsequently measured at 
FVTPL, amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), on the basis of their contractual 
cash flows and the business model under which the debt instruments are held. There is a fair value option (“FVO”) 
that allows financial assets on initial recognition to be designated as FVTPL if that eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch. Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. However, entities have 
an irrevocable option on an instrument-by-instrument basis to present changes in the fair value of non-trading 
instruments in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) (without subsequent reclassification to profit or loss).

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
For financial liabilities designated as FVTPL using the FVO, the amount of change in the fair value of such 
financial liabilities that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI. The remainder of the 
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in respect of the 
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. All other IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement classification and measurement requirements for financial 
liabilities have been carried forward into IFRS 9, including the embedded derivative separation rules and the 
criteria for using the FVO.

Impairment
The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model that replaces the IAS 39 
incurred loss model. The ECL model applies to: debt instruments accounted for at amortised cost or at FVOCI; 
most loan commitments; financial guarantee contracts; contract assets under IFRS 15; and lease receivables 
under IAS 17 Leases. Entities are generally required to recognise either 12 months’ or lifetime ECL, depending on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (or when the commitment or 
guarantee was entered into). For some trade receivables, the simplified approach may be applied whereby the 
lifetime expected credit losses are always recognised. 

Hedge accounting
Hedge effectiveness testing is prospective, without the 80% to 125% bright line test in IAS 39, and, depending 
on the hedge complexity, can be qualitative. A risk component of a financial or non-financial instrument may 
be designated as the hedged item if the risk component is separately identifiable and reliably measureable. 
The time value of an option, any forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread, 
can be excluded from the designation as the hedging instrument and accounted for as costs of hedging. 
More designations of groups of items as the hedged item are possible, including layer designations and some 
net positions.

The application of IFRS 9 may change the measurement and presentation of many financial instruments, 
depending on their contractual cash flows and business model under which they are held. The impairment 
requirements will generally result in earlier recognition of credit losses. The new hedging model may lead to 
more economic hedging strategies meeting the requirements for hedge accounting.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the standard.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – effective 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:

• Identify the contract with the customer;

• Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

• Determine the transaction price;

• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts; and

• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue is recognised, accounting for variable 

consideration, costs of fulfilling and obtaining a contract and various related matters. New disclosures about 

revenue are also introduced.

The Company is still assessing the impact of this new standard.

IFRS 16 Leases – effective 1 January 2019

The scope of the new standard includes leases of all assets, with certain exceptions. A lease is defined as a 

contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration.

Key features
• The new standard requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model (subject 

to certain exemptions) in a similar way to finance leases under IAS 17.

• Lessees recognise a liability to pay rentals with a corresponding asset, and recognise interest expense and 

depreciation separately.

• The new standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ‘low-value’ assets (e.g., personal 

computer) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less).

• Reassessment of certain key considerations (e.g., lease term, variable rents based on an index or rate, discount 

rate) by the lessee is required upon certain events.

• Lessor accounting is substantially the same as today’s lessor accounting, using IAS 17’s dual classification 

approach.

Transition and effective date
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is 

permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. The new standard permits a lessee to choose either a full 

retrospective or a modified retrospective transition approach. The new standard’s transition provisions permit 

certain reliefs.

The new standard requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.

The impact of the new standard is being assessed by the Company.

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows – effective 1 January 2017

The improvements to disclosures require companies to provide information about changes in their financing 

liabilities.

The amendments will help investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including 

changes from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses). 

The improvements are part of the Board’s Disclosure Initiative – a portfolio of projects aimed at improving the 

effectiveness of disclosures in financial reports.

The IAS 7 amendments become mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

The impact of the amendments are being assessed by the Company.

IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations – Amendments to IFRS 11 – 

effective 1 January 2016

Amends IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements to require an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity 

constitutes a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations) to:

• Apply all of the business combinations accounting principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs, except for those 

principles that conflict with the guidance in IFRS 11

• Disclose the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations.

The amendments apply both to the initial acquisition of an interest in joint operation, and the acquisition of an 

additional interest in a joint operation (in the latter case, previously held interests are not remeasured).

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the standard.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

This standard clarifies the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate or joint 

venture, as follows:

• requires full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or 

contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations); and

• requires the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain or 

loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of 

assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control 

of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

The Company is still evaluating the impact of the above amendments. No early adoption is intended by the Board 

of Directors.

Annual Improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle – 1 July 2016

The annual improvements 2012 – 2014 Cycle make amendments to the following standards:

• IFRS 5 – Adds specific guidance in IFRS 5 for cases in which an entity reclassifies an asset from held for sale 

to held for distribution or vice versa and cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued.

• IFRS 7 – Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred 

asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in condensed interim financial statements.

• IAS 19 – Clarifies that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for post-

employment benefits should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid.

• IAS 34 – Clarifies the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’. 

The Company is still evaluating the effect of these new or revised standards and interpretations on the 

presentation of its financial statements. 

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) – 1 January 2016

Amends IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to address perceived impediments to preparers exercising 

their judgement in presenting their financial reports by making the following changes:

• clarification that information should not be obscured by aggregating or by providing immaterial information, 

materiality considerations apply to all parts of the financial statements, and even when a standard requires a 

specific disclosure, materiality considerations do apply;

• clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can be disaggregated and 

aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on subtotals in these statements and clarification that an 

entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate as 

single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss; and 

• additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that understandability and comparability 

should be considered when determining the order of the notes and to demonstrate that the notes need not be 

presented in the order so far listed in paragraph 114 of IAS 1.

The Company is still evaluating the effect of these new or revised standards and interpretations on the 

presentation of its financial statements. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires the Board of Directors to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and 

the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 

of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Board of Directors has made the following 

judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(i) Assessment as investment entity
The amendment to IFRS 10 Investment Entities requires entities that meet the definition of an investment 

entity to apply the exception from consolidation and equity accounting, and instead account for its 

investments in subsidiaries and joint venture at fair value through profit or loss. The Company undertook 

an assessment and concluded that it is an investment entity as follows:

The Company currently has four investments and is in the process of making additional investments into 

assets to grow its asset base; the investments are predominantly in the form of equities. The Company has 

several investors since its listing. The Company has been deemed to meet the definition of an investment 

entity per IFRS 10 as the following conditions exist:

(a) The Company’s private placement memorandum (PPM) details its objective of providing investment 

management services to investors.

(b) The Company’s business purpose, which was communicated directly to investors through its PPM, is 

investing solely for returns from capital appreciation and investment income.

(c) The performance of investments is measured and evaluated on a fair value basis. The Company reports 

to its investors on a quarterly basis as per the Stock Exchange of Mauritius listing rules and to its 

management, via internal management reports, on a fair value basis. The Company has an exit strategy 

for all its investments.

The Board of Directors has concluded that the Company meets the definition of an investment entity. These 

conclusions will be reassessed on an annual basis, if any of these criteria or characteristics change.

(ii) Determination of functional currency
The primary objective of the Company is to generate returns and capital growth in USD for the benefit 

of its shareholder. The assets and liabilities of the Company and the cash flows are predominantly USD-

denominated. The Company’s performance is evaluated in USD. Therefore the Board of Directors considers 

USD as the currency that most accurately represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, 

events and conditions. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 

date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates and assumptions

(i) Fair value of financial instruments 
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 

cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques. The inputs 

to these models are taken from observable markets where possible but, where this is not feasible, a degree 

of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such 

as liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could 

affect the reported fair value of financial instruments (refer to note 8 for fair value disclosure).

(ii) Taxes 
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and changes in tax laws 

on foreign withholding tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences arising between 

the actual investment income and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could 

necessitate future adjustments to tax expense. 

The Company establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits 

by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it invests. The amounts of such provisions are 

based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax 

regulations by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation may 

arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions prevailing in the respective investment’s 

domicile. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is 

required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing 

and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies (refer to note 4 for tax note 

disclosure).

4. TAXATION

The Company, being the holder of a Category 1, Global Business Licence, is liable to income tax in Mauritius on 

its taxable profit arising from its world-wide income at the rate of 15%. The Company’s foreign sourced income 

is eligible for a foreign tax credit which is computed as the lower of the Mauritian tax and the foreign tax on the 

respective foreign sourced income, thus reducing the maximum effective tax rate to 3%.

The foreign tax for a GBL1 company is based on either the foreign tax charged by the foreign country or a 

presumed amount of foreign tax: the presumed amount of foreign tax is based on 80% of the Mauritian tax on the 

relevant foreign sourced income. In computing its total foreign tax credit, the Company is allowed to pool all its 

foreign sourced income. 

Capital gains are outside the scope of the Mauritian tax net while trading profits made by the Company from 

the sale of shares are exempt from tax. The Company does not have any tax liability for the financial year ended 

31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

A reconciliation between the applicable income tax rate of 15.00% and the effective income tax rate is as follows:

2015 2014

% %

Applicable income tax rate 15.00 15.00

Impact of:

Exempt income – (5.31)

Income not subject to tax1 7.29 (28.72)

Non-tax deductible expenses2 (17.23) 18.32

Unrecognised tax losses (5.06) 0.71

Actual income tax rate – –

1  Income not subject to tax includes the net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
2  Non-tax deductible expenses consist mainly of impairment of receivable and distribution to shareholders.
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4. TAXATION (continued)

At 31 December 2015, the Company had accumulated tax losses of USD1,971,657 (2014: USD291,921). The tax 
losses are available for offset against future taxable profit. Below is a summary of the available tax losses to the 
Company:

Accumulated tax losses

Tax losses 2015 2014

Tax losses for the year USD Expiry date USD USD

31 December 2013 71,213 31 December 2018 71,213 71,213

31 December 2014 220,708 31 December 2019 220,708 220,708

31 December 2015 1,679,736 31 December 2020 1,679,736 –

Accumulated tax losses at 31 December 1,971,657 291,921

The foregoing is based on current interpretation and practice and is subject to any future changes in Mauritian 
tax laws.

Deferred tax

A deferred tax asset of USD59,150 (2014: USD8,758) has not been recognised in respect of the tax loss carried 
forward as the Board of Directors considers that it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. 

5.  SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into one main operating segment, which invests in 
equity securities. All significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Company as one segment. 
The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Company as a whole.

The Company only holds investments in companies incorporated in Mauritius. Income or losses shown in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are derived from these companies.

The following table analyses the Company’s income per investment type:

  2015 2014

Net gain on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss: USD USD

– Joint venture 5,143,975 1,815,181

– Subsidiaries (2,724,371) 6,725,111

Interest income 1,460,860 1,361,642

Dividend – 1,645,000

Other 1,731 350,002

Total 3,882,195 11,896,936

6. LOAN RECEIVABLE 

2015 2014

Loan due from related parties USD USD

Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited (note (a) below) 9,635,398 7,760,426 

Amani Place Properties Limited (note (b) below) 14,608,985 14,561,477 

Lousol Properties Mauritius (note (c) below) 21,095,825 23,884,510

45,340,208 46,206,413

2015 2014

Interest receivable from related parties USD USD

Amani Place Properties Limited (note (b) below) 329,790 80,639

Lousol Properties Mauritius (note (c) below) 614,150 32,412

943,940 113,051

(a) ACCRA MALL (MAURITIUS) LIMITED (“AMML”) 

The loan to AMML is unsecured and bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum. The loan is receivable on 

demand.

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to USD629,971 (2014: USD285,754).

(b) AMANI PLACE PROPERTIES LIMITED (“APPL”) 

The loan to APPL consists of an interest-free loan, with no fixed term for repayment, of USD4,379,573 and an 

interest-bearing loan amounting to USD10,229,412 (2014: USD4,332,065 and USD10,229,412 respectively). 

The interest-bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of six-month LIBOR plus 2%. The interest-

bearing loan is receivable on demand.

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to USD249,151 (2014: USD239,500). 

At 31 December 2015, interest receivable on the loan amounted to USD329,790 (2014: USD80,639).

(c) LOUSOL PROPERTIES MAURITIUS (“LPM”)

The interest-bearing loan is unsecured, bears interest at the rate of six-month LIBOR plus 2%. The loan 

is receivable on demand. At 31 December 2015, loan receivables of USD2,788,685 were impaired and 

provided for (2014: nil). The movement in the provision for impairment of loans and receivables is disclosed 

in note 7. 

Interest income accrued for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to USD581,738 (2014: USD836,388). 

At 31 December 2015, interest receivable on the loan amounted to USD614,150 (2014: USD32,412).

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2015 2014

  USD USD

Receivable from Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited – 5,951

Receivable from Lousol Properties Mauritius 290,289 46,567

Other receivables and prepayments 33,760 26,614

324,049 79,132

The amounts receivable from the related parties are unsecured, interest-free and receivable on demand. 

At 31 December 2015, loans receivable of USD30,951 from Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited and USD2,788,685 

from Lousol Properties Mauritius were impaired and provided for (2014: USD33,328 and Nil respectively). 

See below for the movements in the provision for impairment of loans and receivables.

2015 2014

  USD USD

At 1 January 33,328 –

Charge for the year 2,819,636 33,328

At 31 December 2,852,964 33,328
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at 31 December 2015, the following financial instruments were carried at fair value in the statement of financial 

position:

2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As at 31 December 2015 USD USD USD USD

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss: 

Investment in equity shares 60,253,645 – – 60,253,645

Name of investee 

company

Country of 

incorporation

Nature 

of activity

Number and type 

of shares % holding

Fair value 

(USD)

Accra Mall (Mauritius) 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 172,501 

Ordinary shares 50% 32,518,811

Amani Place Properties 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 

Ordinary shares 100% 27,734,834

Lousol Properties Mauritius Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 

Ordinary shares 100% Nil

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 100 

Ordinary shares 100% Nil

2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

As at 31 December 2014 USD USD USD USD

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss: 

Investment in equity shares 57,834,041 – – 57,834,041

Name of investee company

Country of 

incorporation

Nature 

of activity

Number and type 

of shares % holding

Fair value

(USD)

Accra Mall (Mauritius) 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 172,501 

Ordinary shares 50% 27,374,836

Amani Place Properties 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 

Ordinary shares 100% 26,231,038

Lousol Properties Mauritius Mauritius Investment holding 1,000 

Ordinary shares 100% 4,228,167

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings 

Limited

Mauritius Investment holding 100 

Ordinary shares 100% Nil

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments 

by valuation on technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable.

Transfers between levels

There was no transfer between fair value hierarchies during the year (2014: no transfer).

Reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements of level 3 financial instruments

The Company carries unquoted equity shares classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

instruments. 

A reconciliation of the beginning and closing balances including movements of investment in equity classified as 

level 3 within the fair value hierarchy is summarised below:

2015 2014

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss USD USD

At beginning of year 57,834,041 49,293,749

Additions – –

Net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss 2,419,604 8,540,292

At 31 December 60,253,645 57,834,041

Net unrealised changes in fair value of financial assets through profit or loss 2,419,604 8,540,292

VALUATION TECHNIQUES

Unlisted equity investments

The Company invests in companies which are not quoted in an active market. Transactions in such investments 

do not occur on a regular basis. The Company uses a market-based valuation technique for these positions.

VALUATION PROCESS FOR LEVEL 3 VALUATIONS

The fair value of unquoted equity shares held by the Company is determined as its proportion of the investee 

company’s shareholder equity or net asset value. In terms of the Company’s Constitution, the Board of Directors 

has appointed independent external valuers to fair value the investment properties held by the underlying 

investee companies. The valuers are provided with the necessary financial information of the underlying assets 

in order to carry out the independent valuation.

The fair value of property derived from the valuation process is then used by the investee accordingly, to reflect 

the fair value of the investment property. The independent valuation process is performed at a minimum on an 

annual basis.

On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors monitors the performance of the Company’s investments.

ACCRA MALL (MAURITIUS) LIMITED

The Company has a 50% holding in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited, a jointly controlled entity incorporated 

in Mauritius. The other 50% holding is held by Atterbury Africa Limited. Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited is an 

investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Ghana, which holds an investment property called Accra Mall with an 

area of 21,381 square metres. Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, 

while the carrying amounts of their liabilities’ approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by 

adding back the proportionate share of the deferred tax liabilities that would only be incurred if the investment 

property is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that a change in ownership would rather result from the sale of the 

shares in the investee company. This is based on the current tax laws of Ghana. Should the tax laws of Ghana be 

changed to levy capital gains tax on the transfer of the shares of the foreign holding company, the value of the 

shares in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited could decrease by USD9,302,001 (2014: USD5,173,761).

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is valued 

by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted cash 

flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income for the 

period of five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate capitalisation and 

discount rates (or total rate of return) to give the present value (“PV”) of the expected total income cash flow. 
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate were to each 

vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited would be as follows:

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2015 8.00% 8.50% 9.00%

Discounted cash flow method USD USD USD

Discount rate 13.50% 35,512,669 33,417,410 31,554,958 

14.00% 34,568,522 32,518,811 30,696,845 

14.50% 33,647,635 31,642,288 29,859,757 

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2014 8.00% 8.50% 9.00%

Discounted cash flow method USD USD USD

Discount rate 13.00% 32,293,173 28,926,014 25,922,872 

13.50% 30,741,995 27,374,836 24,371,694 

14.00% 29,228,882 25,861,723 22,858,581

Summarised financial information of the joint venture based on IFRS financial statements and reconciliation with 

the carrying amount of the investment in the financial statements are set out below:

Consolidated statement of financial information of Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited

2015 2014

USD USD

Current assets 2,689,766 3,650,148 

Non-current assets 113,166,591 96,238,483 

Current liabilities (29,050,415) (16,083,960)

Non-current liabilities (36,583,737) (35,811,468)

Equity – Attributable to minority interest (approximately 6%) (3,788,586) (3,591,052)

 – Attributable to joint ventures (approximately 94%) 46,433,619 44,402,151

2015 2014

USD USD

Proportion of ownership in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited 50% 50%

Share of the equity in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited 23,216,810 22,201,075

Adjustment for deferred tax 9,302,001 5,173,761 

Fair value of investment 32,518,811 27,374,836

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Accra Mall (Mauritius) 

Limited

2015 2014

USD USD

Income 17,533,299 13,689,164 

Expenses (6,922,301) (6,212,412)

Profit before tax 10,610,998 7,476,752 

Income tax expense (8,836,340) (982,016)

Profit for the year 1,774,658 6,494,736 

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss 

in subsequent periods 426,810 –

Net other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss 

in subsequent period – –

Total comprehensive income 2,201,468 6,494,736

Non-controlling interest (approximately 6%) (169,998) (431,759)

Total comprehensive income attributable to Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited 2,031,470 6,062,977

2015 2014

USD USD

Proportion of ownership in Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited 50% 50%

Share of comprehensive income 1,015,735 3,031,489

Dividend received from Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited – (1,645,000)

Adjustment for deferred tax for the year ended 4,128,240 428,692

Fair value gain on investment 5,143,975 1,815,181

The joint venture had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2014 or 2015.

AMANI PLACE PROPERTIES LIMITED

Amani Place Properties Limited (“APPL”) is an investment vehicle with a subsidiary in Tanzania, namely Capital 

Properties Limited (“CPL”), which holds investment properties.

APPL holds 4,999,999 shares out of the issued five million shares in CPL, which is incorporated in Tanzania 

and domiciled in Tanzania as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly traded. The other 

one share is held by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited (“SOHL”). The principal activity of CPL is investment in 

commercial property. Currently, CPL owns three buildings called FNB House, Amani Place and Barclays House 

measuring 20,962 square metres in aggregate and the related parking silo. All buildings are located in Dar es 

Salaam, Tanzania.

Both the investee company and its subsidiary value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their 

liabilities approximate fair value. 

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is 

valued by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted 

cash flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income 

for the period of five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate reversionary 

capitalisation and discount rates (or total rate of return) to give the present value (PV) of the expected total 

income cash flow. 
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or future capitalisation rate were to each vary 

by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in Amani Place Properties Limited would change as follows:

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2015 9.40%* 9.90%* 10.40%*

Discounted cash flow method USD USD USD

Discount rate 10.25% 28,992,130 28,170,277 27,428,071

10.75% 28,538,301 27,734,834 27,009,231

11.25% 28,095,838 27,310,265 26,600,822

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2014 9.40%* 9.90%* 10.40%*

Discounted cash flow method USD USD USD

Discount rate 10.50% 28,831,038 27,131,038 25,431,038

11.00% 27,931,038 26,231,038 24,531,038

11.50% 26,931,038 25,231,038 23,531,038

* Note that these are the weighted average capitalisation rates, weighted by the valuation of each individual office tower.

The shares held by the Company in APPL will be pledged to Investec Bank Limited in the event that there is any 

drawdown of the facility amounting to USD13,000,000 which was entered into between the Company and 

Investec Bank Limited in 2014. This facility expired on 18 March 2016 without any amounts having been drawn 

down.

LOUSOL PROPERTIES MAURITIUS AND SACREIL ODDLOT HOLDINGS LIMITED 

Lousol Properties Mauritius (“LPM”) and Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited (“SOHL”) were incorporated in Mauritius 

on 14 November 2013 as Global Business Category 2 companies and were both converted to Global Business 

Category 1 companies on 15 January 2014. 

LPM and SOHL are investment vehicles holding a subsidiary in Nigeria namely Lousol Properties Limited (“LPL”), 

which in turn holds an investment property. SOHL also holds 1 share in CPL.

LPM and SOHL hold 163,899,836 shares and 164 shares respectively in LPL, which is incorporated in Nigeria 

and domiciled in Nigeria as a limited liability private company whose shares are not publicly traded. The principal 

activity of LPL is investment in real estate. Currently, LPL owns one building called Atlantic House with an area of 

4,271 square metres. The building is located in Lagos, Nigeria.

The carrying amount of SOHL and LPM as at 31 December 2015 are nil (2014: nil and USD4,228,167 respectively) 

as both companies are loss-making. 

Both the investee companies and LPL value their assets at fair value, while the carrying amounts of their liabilities 

approximate fair value. The fair value so determined is adjusted by adding back the deferred tax liability that 

would only be incurred if the investment property is sold by the subsidiary, on the basis that a change in 

ownership would rather result from the sale of the shares in the investee company. This is based on the current 

tax laws of Nigeria. Should the tax laws of Nigeria be changed to levy capital gains tax on the transfer of the 

shares of the foreign holding company, the provisioning for the impairment of loan receivable could increase by 

USD247,051 (2014: The value of the shares in Lousol Properties Mauritius could decrease by USD247,051).

The underlying investment property is the main component of the fair value of the shares. The property is valued 

by independent external valuators with reference to properties of a similar nature and using a discounted cash 

flow method of valuation. The property is valued by discounting the expected future net annual income for the 

period of five years plus the capitalised value of subsequent years’ income at appropriate capitalisation and 

discount rates (or total rate of return) to give the PV of the expected income. 

In 2015, the carrying amount of LPM was nil. 

LOUSOL PROPERTIES MAURITIUS AND SACREIL ODDLOT HOLDINGS LIMITED (CONTINUED)

In 2014, assuming all other things remain constant, if the discount rate and/or reversionary capitalisation rate 

were to each vary by 50 basis points, the value of the investment in Lousol Properties Mauritius would change 

as follows:

Reversionary capitalisation rate

2014 8.50% 9.00% 9.50%

Discounted cash flow method USD USD USD

Discount rate 11.00% 6,904,125 5,120,673 3,515,565

11.50% 6,011,620 4,228,167 2,623,060

12.00% 5,141,167 3,357,714 1,752,607

The shares held by the Company in LPM will be pledged to Investec Bank Limited in the event that there is any 

drawdown of the facility amounting to USD13,000,000 which was entered into between the Company and Investec 

Bank Limited in 2014. This facility expired on 18 March 2016 without any amounts having been drawn down.

Based on the information above, there are no other significant assumptions used by the Company in valuing the 

level 3 instruments for which a reasonable possible change thereto would have a significant impact on the fair 

value of such instruments.

9. BORROWINGS

2015 2014

  USD USD

Loan from Sanlam Capital Markets – –

Pursuant to the credit facility agreement dated 26 June 2012, interest accrues at a base rate of three months 

LIBOR for US Dollars plus a margin. The facility was repaid in full in 2014, and there was no interest due at 

31 December 2015 (2014: USDnil). There was no interest expense for the year ended 31 December 2015 

(2014: USD840,710). 

10. ADVISORY FEES

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement between the Company and Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary 

Limited (the “Advisor”), the Company is required to pay annual advisory fees of 1.75% on the aggregate of 

the Company’s underlying property asset values to the Advisor. The advisory fees incurred for 2015 were 

USD2,677,442 (2014: USD2,314,998) and USD670,920 was payable at 31 December 2015 (2014: USD641,915).

11. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2015 2014

USD USD

Professional fees payable 5,045 9,455

Accounting fees payable 14,250 15,250

Directors fees payable 39,875 39,000

Other payables 28,027 16,536

87,197 80,241

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of six months.
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12. CLASS A, CLASS B AND CLASS C SHARES

The following classes of shares were in issue at 31 December 2015:

• Class A – 16,636,409 shares

• Class B – 2,000,000 shares

• Class C – 100 shares

Class A 
Class A shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius and are held by various investors. Class A shares 

confer upon the holders thereof the following rights, obligations and restrictions:

1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;

2. Each Class A share represents one vote;

3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and 

the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius;

4. If the Gross Asset Value of the Company is less than USD750 million on the Company Reference Date (being 

31 December 2020), then each Class A Shareholder will have the right to elect to have their shareholding 

repurchased by the Company;

5. Participation in the termination and winding up of the Company.

Class B
Class B shares shall, at all times, be held by the advisor of the Company or by the Company. Class B shares 

confer upon the holders thereof the following rights:

1. The right to vote on all matters except those matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares;

2. Class B shares have at all times voting rights not less than 10% of the aggregate voting rights of all the 

shares on all matters except those matters solely affecting the Class A shares;

3. The right to dividends and distributions in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Constitution and 

the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius;

As per the Company’s Constitution, the holder of the Class B shares has the right to an additional dividend 

subject to certain conditions being met. The additional dividend reserve for the year ended 31 December 

2015 is nil (2014: USD68,470). The additional dividend of USD68,470 accrued in 2014 has been clawed 

back in 2015 as the condition of 10% growth in the NAV during the year ended 31 December 2015 has not 

been met. 

The net assets attributable to the Class B shareholder are made up as follows:

2015 2014

USD USD

Additional dividend reserve – 68,470

Other net assets 11,591,869 13,151,707

Total net assets 11,591,869 13,220,177

4. The Class B shares shall be redeemable at the option of the Company in the circumstances which entitle the 

Company (acting on the instructions of Class A Shareholders) to terminate the Advisory Agreement and have 

the obligation to acquire those shares. Should the Advisor terminate the Advisory Agreement, the Company 

or replacement Advisor would be obliged to acquire the Class B Shares.

5. Participation in the termination and winding up of the Company.

Class C
Class C Shares are categorised as a liability instrument because of the contractual obligation contained in the 

advisory agreement between the Company and the Advisor, the holder of the Class C Shares.

Class C shares shall, at all times, be held by the Advisor of the Company.

1. Class C shares do not participate in any distributions;

2. Class C shares are non-voting;

3. Class C Shares are only redeemable if the advisory agreement is terminated and should be issued to the 

replacement Advisor; 

4. On winding up, the Class C shareholder will be only entitled to the subscription price.

13. DIVIDEND INCOME

2015 2014

USD USD

Dividend income from joint venture – 1,645,000

14. PROFESSIONAL FEES

2015 2014

USD USD

Professional fees 89,995 39,555

Insurance fees 49,299 14,915

Secretarial and registry fees 26,000 26,000

Commitment fees 102,219 22,497

Legal fees 64,088 –

331,601 102,967

15. DIRECTORS’ FEES

Pursuant to the Directors Service Agreement between the Company and the directors, directors are entitled to 

directors’ fees for their attendance at various meetings plus a quarterly retainer. Total directors’ fees for the year 

ended 31 December 2015 were USD121,964 (2014: USD131,000).

16. CHANGE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE PER SHARE

Change in net assets attributable per share is calculated for Class A and Class B separately to take into 

consideration the additional dividend to which the Class B shareholder is entitled to. 

The change in net assets attributable per share is calculated as follows:

Class A – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class A from operations plus any adjustment as 

disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to shareholders by the number of Class A shares 

in issue at year end.

Class B – By dividing the change in net assets attributable to Class B from operations, adjusted to add back the 

additional dividend and any adjustment as disclosed in the statement of changes of net assets attributable to 

shareholders, by the number of Class B shares in issue at year end.
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16. CHANGE IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE PER SHARE (continued)

2015 2014

USD USD

(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to Class A from operations (4,447,057) 3,949,795

Re-allocation of additional dividend reversed 61,122 –

Change in net assets attributable to Class A (4,385,935) 3,949,795

Number of Class A shares at 31 December 16,636,409 16,636,409

Change in net assets attributable to Class A per share (0.2637) 0.2374

(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to Class B from operations (534,617) 624,963

Additional dividend paid (1,032,569) –

(Reversal of additional dividend reserve)/additional dividend reserve (68,470) 68,470

Re-allocation of additional dividend reversed 7,348 –

Change in net assets attributable to Class B (1,628,308) 693,433

Number of Class B shares at 31 December 2,000,000 2,000,000

Change in net assets attributable to Class B per share (0.8142) 0.3467

17.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

During the year under review, the Company had the following transactions and balances with related parties:

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited (Shareholder and Advisor)

2015 2014

USD USD

Advisory fees payable 670,920 641,915

Advisory fees for the year 2,677,442 2,314,998 

Joint venture – Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited

2015 2014

USD USD

Loan receivable 8,469,476 7,134,980

Interest receivable on loan 1,165,922 625,446

Receivables at 31 December 9,635,398 7,760,426

Interest income for the year 629,971 285,754

Refer to note 6 for terms and conditions of loan receivables.

Subsidiary – Amani Place Properties Limited

2015 2014

USD USD

Loan receivable 14,608,985 14,561,477

Interest receivable on loan 329,790 80,639

Receivables at 31 December 14,938,775 14,642,116

Interest income for the year 249,151 239,500

Refer to note 6 for term and conditions of loans and advances.

Subsidiary – Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited 

2015 2014

USD USD

Amounts receivable – 5,951

Subsidiary – Lousol Properties Mauritius

2015 2014

USD USD

Loan receivable 21,095,825 23,884,510

Interest receivable on loan 614,150 32,412

Other receivable 290,289 46,567

Receivables at 31 December 22,000,264 23,963,489

Interest income for the year 581,738 836,388

Refer to note 6 for terms and conditions of loans and advances. Other receivable relates to expenses paid on 

behalf of the subsidiary. The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and receivable on demand.

Administrator – Intercontinental Trust Limited (ITL)

2015 2014

USD USD

Payable to ITL at 31 December 19,511 24,917

Fees attributable to ITL for the year 106,871 122,808

Directors remuneration – short term

2015 2014

USD USD

Directors fees for the year 121,964 131,000

Directors fees payable at 31 December 39,875 39,000

Indirect Shareholder – Sanlam Capital Markets

2015 2014

USD USD

Interest expense for the year – 840,710

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Other than a Cash Shortfall guarantee (refer to note 21) in respect of the finance provided to Lousol Properties 

Limited, there have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. 

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has recorded an impairment of receivables amounting to 

USD30,951 owed by Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited, a related party (2014: USD33,328). The Company has also 

recorded an impairment of loan receivable of USD2,788,684 owed by Lousol Properties Mauritius (2014: nil). 

This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related parties 

and the market in which the related parties operate.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (CONTINUED)



6564

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

Annual Report 2015

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

Annual Report 2015

17.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

Transactions with key management personnel

Gregory Chalmers is also a director of the Advisor.

Peter John Cook and Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe are also directors of Sanlam Capital Markets, 

an indirect shareholder.

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin is a director of Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company’s Administrator and 

Company Secretary.

All transactions were entered into in the normal course of business. The Company does not have any employees 

and the day-to-day administration of the Company is outsourced to the Administrator and the Advisor in terms of 

the Administration Services and Advisory Agreements respectively.

18. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent 

in the Company’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 

monitoring of risks, subject to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the 

Company’s continuing profitability.

Risk management structure

The Board of Directors of the Company has set up an Audit and Risk Management Committee (the “Committee”) 

to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

• the safeguarding of the Company’s assets; 

• the appropriateness and effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal controls;

• the quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;

• the qualification, independence, performance and fees of the External Auditors of the Company;

• the performance and fees of Internal Audit as an internal assurance provider; 

• the Company’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements; 

• an assessment of service providers, including, but not limited to, the Company’s Administrator and the 

Company’s Advisor; and

• an assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and investee 

companies.

Risk measurement and reporting system

The Committee will examine and review the annual financial statements, the interim reports, the accompanying 

reports to shareholders, the preliminary announcement of results and any other announcement regarding the 

Company’s results or other financial information to be made public, prior to submission to, and approval by, the 

Board of Directors.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily set up to be performed based on limits established by the Board of 

Directors. These limits reflect the business strategy including the risk that the Company is willing to accept and 

the market environment of the Company. In addition, the Company monitors and measures the overall risk in 

relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities.

New Transaction Approval

As per the Company’s Constitution, the Company also has an investment committee (“IC”). The IC assesses the 

risk/return profile of proposed investments before recommendation to the Board of Directors. All new transactions 

need to be recommended by the IC before being considered by the Board of Directors for final approval.

Financial risk factors

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency 

risk and interest rate risk), property income and valuation risk, equity price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

Market risk 

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates. The Company’s financial assets and liabilities, and those of its underlying investee companies are 

predominantly denominated in United States Dollars which is the Company’s functional currency and the 

Company is therefore not materially exposed to any foreign currency risk.

However, within the investee companies, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying investments as 

these may, in some cases, derive income in their respective local currencies. Fair value changes to the Company 

will therefore be dependent on changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate risk primarily results from exposure to the volatility 

of interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is on the interest-bearing loan given to APPL of 

USD10,229,412 (2014: USD10,229,412) and the interest-bearing loan given to LPM of USD21,095,825 (2014: 

USD23,884,510).

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion 

of loans and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Company’s (loss)/profit before tax is 

affected through the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

(Loss)/profit 

before tax

Increase/

decrease in

 basis points

Effect on 

(loss)/profit 

before tax

Year USD USD

2015 (4,981,674) +25 78,313 

-25 (78,313)

2014 4,643,228 +25 85,285 

-25 (85,285)

Credit risk

The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to meet its 

obligations under a financial instrument or contract, leading to a financial loss.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December was:

2015 2014

  USD USD

Cash at bank 1,911,775 10,519,262

Loan receivable 45,340,208 46,206,413

Interest receivable 943,940 113,051

Other receivables 308,238 63,785

Financial guarantee 24,259,896 25,250,000

Total 72,764,057 82,152,511
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

There is no significant credit risk associated with the cash at bank since the Company maintains bank accounts 

with large financial institutions. The Company’s main banker is Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited which is a 

subsidiary of the Barclays Group (credit rating by Standard & Poor’s in 2015: A-2). As such, directors believe 

exposure to credit risk to be minimal. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount 

of each financial asset in the statement of financial position. Within the investee companies, there is exposure 

to credit risk in the form of tenants in the underlying investment properties not being able to meet their lease 

obligations. This risk is mitigated through having quality investment properties that are readily lettable and 

actively managing delinquent tenants. The other financial assets have not been rated by rating agencies.

The loans and receivables, except for the loan receivable from LPM and the receivable from SOHL, are neither 

past due nor impaired for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. Refer to notes 6 and 7 for 

the impairment provisions made during the year ended 31 December 2015. 

Property income and valuation risk

Property income risk is the risk of not being able to maintain the level of net income associated with the building 

typically due to increased costs or vacancies and the risk that tenant affordability in country is impacted due to 

depreciation of the local currency.

Long-term contracts are entered into as far as possible for leases. Property manager fees are usually a 

percentage of collections. Costs are controlled and measured against an approved budget process.

Property valuations are dependent upon assumptions relating to discount rates and reversionary capitalisation 

rates. Sensitivities to these variables are provided in note 8.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of equities as the result of changes in the 

value of individual shares. The Company is exposed to equity price risk because of uncertainties about future 

prices of the investments held at fair value through profit or loss. To manage its price risk arising from investments 

in equity securities, the Company targets underlying real estate assets with demonstrated and sustainable 

income streams with little or no development risk.

If the prices of the securities held by the Company at 31 December 2015 increased/decreased by 5% with all 

other variables held constant, this would have increased/decreased total net assets attributable to shareholders 

by approximately USD3,012,682 (2014: USD2,891,702).

Refer to note 8 for additional information on the equity price risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 

to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 

or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. Liquidity risk is reduced by the credit facility, which the Company 

negotiated with Investec Bank Limited for an amount of USD13,000,000 during the year 2014 to meet its working 

capital and operational funding requirements. This facility expired on 18 March 2016 without any amounts having 

been drawn down. The Company is currently considering alternative sources of financing. Liquidity risk is managed 

by having adequate facilities or by having cash on hand. The Company has provided a Cash Shortfall guarantee 

(refer to note 21) in respect of the finance provided to Lousol Properties Limited.

Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2015 based 

on contractual undiscounted payments:

No Stated 

Maturity

Up to 3 

months

3 to12 

months Total

At 31 December 2015 USD USD USD USD

Financial liabilities

Other payables and accruals – 87,197 – 87,197

Advisory fees payable – 670,920 – 670,920 

Net assets attributable to shareholders 108,015,500 – – 108,015,500

108,015,500 758,117 – 108,773,617

At 31 December 2014

Financial liabilities

Other payables and accruals – 80,241 – 80,241 

Advisory fees payable – 641,915 – 641,915 

Net assets attributable to shareholders 114,029,743 – – 114,029,743 

114,029,743 722,156 – 114,751,899 

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which 

the guarantee could be called. 

No Stated

 Maturity

Up to 3 

months

3 to12 

months Total

At 31 December 2015 USD USD USD USD

Financial guarantee – 24,259,896 – 24,259,896 

– 24,259,896 – 24,259,896

At 31 December 2014

Financial guarantee – 25,250,000 – 25,250,000 

– 25,250,000 – 25,250,000

Capital risk management
The Company’s capital, managed at the year-end, is represented by the total net asset values of the Class A, 

B and C shares. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders 

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital. The Company actively manages its capital 

structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 

Pursuant to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Listing Rules, the Company is required to have a minimum market 

capitalisation of 20 million Mauritian rupees (approximately USD550,000). The market capitalisation of the 

Company at 31 December 2015 was USD91,500,250 (2014: USD95,825,716). 
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18. FINANCIAL RISK AND MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair values
Except where stated elsewhere, the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate 

their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these financial instruments.

Categories of financial instruments

 2015 2014

  USD USD

Financial assets

Loans and receivables1 48,504,161 56,902,511

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 60,253,645 57,834,041

  108,757,806 114,736,552

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost2 758,117 722,156

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 108,015,500 114,029,743

  108,773,617 114,751,899

1 Loans and receivables include: Cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, other receivables and interest receivable.
2 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost include: borrowings, advisory fees payable, interest payable and other payables and accrued 

expenses.

19. DISTRIBUTIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dividend

Dividend 

per share

2015 USD USD

Final dividend paid in respect of 2014 1,451,776 0.0779

Interim dividend paid in respect of 2015 1,347,911 0.0723

Total distributions paid in 2015 2,799,687

2014

Final dividend paid in respect of 2013 1,484,055 0.1337

Interim dividend paid in respect of 2014 2,213,002 0.1520

Total distributions paid in 2014 3,697,057

20. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

The directors have approved a total final ordinary dividend of USD3,193,670 to Class A and B shareholders 

(equivalent to USD0.1714 per share) which, together with the interim dividend, equates to a total dividend for the 

year ended 31 December 2015 of USD4,541,581 (equivalent to USD0.2437 per share) (2014: USD3,664,778, 

equivalent to USD0.2299 per share). 

The Company entered into a senior facility agreement with Sanlam Capital Markets Proprietary Limited on 24 March 

2016. Under the terms of this facility, the Company may draw up to USD10 million till 30 June 2016 with repayment 

due on 30 June 2017. 

Other than that, the directors of the Company are not aware of any other events occurring between the reporting 

date and the date of approval of the financial statements, that may require any adjustment or disclosure in the 

financial statements. 

21. GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2014, Lousol Properties Limited (“LPL”) entered in a Loan Facility amounting 

to USD25,25 million with Standard Chartered Bank Nigeria Limited. The loan facility amortises quarterly with the 

final repayment due 60 months from the date of the first drawdown, which was in December 2014. The Company 

acted as sponsor/guarantor to LPL to support the funding requirements of LPL with regards to the repayment of 

the loan. Accordingly, in the event of default by LPL, the Company undertook to provide financial support to repay 

any outstanding debt amount via equity injection, or a shareholder loan. 

The Board of Directors of the Company deems the probability of LPL defaulting on its debt to be sufficiently remote 

so that it does not anticipate that any material liabilities will arise from the arrangement.

22. FINANCIAL SUPPORT 

The Company has signified its intention to provide its financial support to its Mauritian subsidiaries as and when 

required in order for them to meet their financial obligations as they fall due. 

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and cash equivalents which are short-term, highly 

liquid investments. 

2015 2014

  USD USD

Balances with banks 1,911,775 10,519,262

Cash equivalents – –

1,911,775 10,519,262

24. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

2015 2014

Notes USD USD

Interest received 629,971 1,407,901

Dividend received 13 – 1,645,000

Loan interest paid – (850,651)

Distribution to shareholders† 19 (2,799,687) (3,697,057)

† The distribution to shareholders excludes the additional dividend paid during the year ended 31 December 2015.

25. PARENT AND ULTIMATE PARENT

The parent and ultimate parent of the Company is Sanlam Limited, a company listed on the Johannesburg Stock 

Exchange.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

COMPANY DETAILS

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited (Registration number: C109045 C1/GBL) SEM code: SARE-N-0101

ISIN: MU0396S00004

REGISTERED OFFICE

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

DIRECTORS Nationalities Date Appointed Date Resigned

Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin Mauritian 9 May 2012 – 
Peter John Cook South African 29 January 2013 – 
Anil Carrim Currimjee Mauritian 29 January 2013 – 
Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe South African 29 January 2013 – 
Gregory Alexander Chalmers South African 3 November 2015 –
Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru Kenyan 31 March 2015 –
Tiny Matildah Kgatlwane Motswana 29 January 2013 1 March 2015
Vincent Musungu Rague Kenyan 27 February 2013 31 May 2015 
Thomas James Arthur Reilly South African 6 April 2012 5 October 2015

BANKERS

Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited

1st Floor, Barclays house, 68–68A Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

AfrAsia Bank Limited

Bowen Square, 10 Dr Ferriere St, Port Louis, 11328

Mauritius

COMPANY ADMINISTRATOR AND SECRETARY

Intercontinental Trust Limited  29 March 2013

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Limited 

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

9th Floor, NeXTeracom Tower 1, Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

CORPORATE SPONSOR

Capital Market Brokers Limited

Suite 1004, Level 1, Alexander House, Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

LEGAL ADVISER AS TO MAURITIAN LAW

C&A Law (Registered as a Law Firm in Mauritius)

Suite 1005, Level 1, Alexander House, Cybercity, Ebène 72201

Mauritius

ADVISOR

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor, Building 2, 11 Alice Lane, Sandton 2196

South Africa

NOTICES AND ADMINISTRATION

CORPORATE DIARY

FINAL 2015 Date

Financial year-end 31 Dec 15

Publication of abridged results for the year ended 31 December 2015 on SEM 25 Mar 16

Publication of abridged results for the year ended 31 December 2015 to Press 29 Mar 16

Date of declaration of dividend 25 Mar 16

Last day shares traded cum dividend 12 Apr 16

Shares traded ex dividend 13 Apr 16

Record date 16 Apr 16

Dividend payment date 22 Apr 16

Annual report posted on 01 Jun 16

Notice of Annual General Meeting posted on 01 Jun 16

Annual General Meeting 23 Jun 16

Q1 2016

Quarter ends 31 Mar 16

Announcement of quarterly results 11 May 16

Q2 2016

Quarter ends 30 Jun 16

Announcement of quarterly results (tentative) 11 Aug 16

Q3 2016

Quarter ends 30 Sep 16

Announcement of quarterly results (tentative) 08 Nov 16

Q4 2016

Quarter ends 31 Dec 16

Announcement of quarterly results (tentative) 31 Mar 17
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SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS

SACREIL currently has three classes of issued shares, namely Class A, Class B and Class C shares. The Class B and 

Class C shares are held by the Advisor, SAREA. The Class A shares have the right to vote on all matters except those 

matters solely affecting the rights of another class of shares, the right to dividends and distributions in accordance 

with the provisions of the Constitution and the Act. Each Class A share represents one vote. The Class B shares 

have similar rights to the Class A shares but the Class B shareholders are also entitled to an Additional Dividend on 

the achievement by SACREIL of certain performance hurdles. The Additional Dividend has a ‘claw-back’ feature. 

The Class C share is the nominal USD100 share and has no rights attached to it, apart from the return of the USD100 

in the event of the winding up of the Company.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 30 APRIL 2016

NUMBER OF 

SHARES HELD

PERCENTAGE 

HELD OF TOTAL 

SHARES ISSUED

SHARE 

CLASS

Sanlam Life Insurance Limited 3,693,870 19.82 A

Sentinel Retirement Fund 3,694,469 19.82 A

Agulhas Nominees Proprietary Limited for Sanlam Private 

Investments Proprietary Limited 2,776,772 14.90 A

Botswana Insurance Fund Management Limited 1,847,234 9.91 A

Old Mutual Investment Group SA Proprietary Limited 1,847,234 9.91 A

Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited 2,000,000 10.73 B

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Name Domicile Percentage held Direct or Indirect

Amani Place Properties Limited Mauritius 100 Direct

Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius 50 Direct

Lousol Properties Mauritius Mauritius 100 Direct

Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited Mauritius 100 Direct

Accra Mall Limited Ghana 47 Indirect

Petrostar Limited Ghana 47 Indirect

Capital Properties Limited Tanzania 100 Indirect

Lousol Properties Limited Nigeria 100 Indirect

FACT SHEET

Company name Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

(Registration number: C109045 C1/GBL)

Registered address Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius

Period end 31 December 2015

Chairman of the Board Anil Currimjee

Board of Directors Anil Currimjee* 

Peter Cook*

Yan Ng#

Johan van der Merwe#

Jimnah Mbaru*

Gregory Alexander Chalmers#

*  Non-executive Independent Director
#  Non-executive Director

Company Secretary and Administrator Intercontinental Trust Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent Intercontinental Secretarial Services Limited

Advisor Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited

Legal Advisors Mauritius C&A Law 

External Auditors Ernst & Young 

SEM Listing Date 16 May 2013

Shares in Issue A Shares 16,636,409

B Shares 2,000,000

C Shares 100

Volume Traded 804,983

Value Traded $4,438,793

Share Price USD High $6.02

Low $5.32

Closing $5.50

Trade Data Date

Volume of Shares 

Traded

Value of Shares 

Traded

Jan 15 63,285 360,725

Feb 15 133,361 757,158

Apr 15 21,454 124,049

May 15 21,448 123,112

Jun 15 207,480 1,141,140

Aug 15 100 550

Sep 15 316,591 1,705,108

Oct 15 8,550 47,025

Nov 15 4,600 25,300

Dec 15 28,114 154,627

Dividend per share USD 0.0723 (paid on 8 September 2015)

USD 0.1714 (paid on 22 April 2016)

Annual meeting 23 June 2016
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Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited
(the “Company”)

Incorporated in theRepublic of  Mauritius
Registration number: 109045 C1/GBL

ISIN code: MU0396S00004
SEM code: SARE-N-0101
SEDOL code: B979H90

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate 

Investments Limited will be held on 23 June 2016 at 11.00 Mauritius Time at Level 3, Alexander House, 

35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius.

AGENDA

1. To consider the 2015 Annual Report of the Company.

2. To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 

(included in 2015 Annual Report).

3. To re-elect the following directors who accordingly retire and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with 

section 29.1.4 of the Company’s Constitution:

3.1 Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee

3.2 Mr Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru

3.3 Mr Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin

3.4 Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus van der Merwe

3.5 Mr Gregory Alexander Chalmers

4. To re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company.

5. To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration of the Company’s auditors.

6. Subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules and pursuant to inter alia the 

Company’s Constitution, to authorise the Board of Directors of the Company to allot and issue up to 10 000 000 

additional shares of the Company, at a price which may be determined by the directors at the time of issuing the 

shares, until this authority lapses which shall be at the next Annual General Meeting or 15 months from the date 

hereof, whichever is the earliest.

By order of  the Board

INTERCONTINENTAL TRUST LIMITED

Company Secretary

Date: 31 May 2016

Note:  Ordinary resolutions 1 to 6 will require the support of  more than 50% of  the total votes exercisable by 

members of  the Company, present in person or by proxy to pass the resolutions.

  Members entitled to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting may appoint proxies, who need not be members, 

to attend and vote on their behalf. Instruments appointing proxy or any power of  attorney should be deposited 

at the registered office of  the Company at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène 72201, Mauritius 

no later than 24 hours before the meeting, being no later than 11.00 am Mauritius Time, 22 June 2016, failing 

which the instrument of  proxy or the power of  attorney shall not be accepted.

AML Accra Mall Limited

AMML Accra Mall (Mauritius) Limited

APPL Amani Place Properties Limited

CPL Capital Properties Limited

GAV Gross Asset Value

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IRR Internal Rate of Return 

LPL Lousol Properties Limited

LPM Lousol Properties Mauritius

NAV Net Asset Value

PPM Private Placement Memorandum

SACREIL Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

SANLAM Sanlam Limited

SAREA Sanlam Africa Real Estate Advisor Proprietary Limited

SEM Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited

SOHL Sacreil Oddlot Holdings Limited

SSA sub-Saharan Africa

USD United States Dollars

ABBREVIATIONS
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NOTES PROXY FORM

The Company Secretary

Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201

Mauritius

Dear Sir/Madam,

I/We , being shareholder(s) of  Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate

Investments Limited hereby appoint Mr/Mrs/Miss of  or, 

failing him/her,

the chairman of the annual general meeting, as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the Annual Meeting of the Shareholders 
of the Company to be held on 23 June 2016 at 11.00 Mauritius Time at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 
72201, Mauritius, and at any adjournment of that meeting.

Kindly tick the appropriate boxes below:

Agenda Description For Against Abstention

2
To receive  and  adopt  the audited  financial  statements of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 (copy attached)

3

To re-elect the following directors, who were appointed by the board 
during the course of the period and who, accordingly, retire and 
offer themselves for re-election in accordance with section 29.1.4 of 
the Company’s Constitution:

Mr Anil Carrim Currimjee

Mr Jimnah Mwangi Mbaru

Mr Yan Chong Ng Cheng Hin

Mr Gregory Alexander Chalmers

Mr Johannes Hendrik Petrus Van Der Merwe

4
To re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company until the 
conclusion of the Company’s next Annual General Meeting

5
To authorise the Board of Directors to determine the remuneration of 
the Company’s auditors

6

That, subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, 
the SEM Listing Rules and pursuant to inter alia the Company’s 
Constitution, the Board of Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to allot and issue up to 10 000 000 additional 
shares of the Company, at a price which may be determined by the 
directors at the time of issuing the shares, until this authority lapses 
which shall be at the next Annual General Meeting or 15 months from 
the date hereof, whichever is the earliest

Consent in terms of Section 327 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001
I/we a shareholder of the Company, hereby consents to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts, or any other 
documents pertaining to the Company at the following email address until such authority is revoked:

Email Address:

I/we undertake to advise the Company within five days at its registered address of any change in my/our email address.
This consent may be revoked at any time on the provision of five days’ notice in writing to the Company.

Signed this day of  2016

Signature:

Shareholder name: 

Assisted by: 



Sanlam Africa Core Real Estate Investments Limited

Note:
1.  A member of  the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting may appoint a proxy of  his/her own choice (whether a member or not) to attend 

and vote on his/her behalf.

2.  Please mark in the appropriate box how you wish to vote. If  no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will exercise his/her discretion as to how 

he/she votes.

3.  The instrument appointing a proxy or any general power of  attorney shall be deposited at the Registered Office of  the Company at Level 3, Alexander 

House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, Mauritius, no later than 24 hours before the meeting, failing which the instrument of  proxy or the power of  attorney 

shall not be treated as valid.


